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the welfare of the pet. Despite the 
challenges that the year brought, we 
wanted to raise our profile and present 
ourselves in a different way to achieve 
more. The timing of this also coincided 
with another highlight of what was a 
hard and demanding year, which was the 
BAFTA nomination for Channel 4’s “The 
Dog House”. Centred on our Huntingdon 
site, the programme provides just a slice 
of what we do but it does not hold back 
on the excellent level of care we give 
to dogs. Whilst we may not have won 
the BAFTA, I was nevertheless extremely 
proud of the team that supported the 
programme and the way it highlighted 
what an amazing job everyone at 
Woodgreen does. 

Looking ahead, the external context 
in which we operate looks very uncertain 
and extremely challenging. The economic 
realities will also impact on pets and their 
people. We anticipate more demand for 
intake, but less opportunity to rehome. 
This in turn means that we will need 
to provide more support to keep pets 
in homes, at a time when we will likely 
have more demands on our funds than 
we are able to service. Despite this, we 
have reason to be positive about our 
ability to do more and have a greater 
impact. We recognised that 2021 was 
perhaps a crossroads in terms of what 
the future need of Woodgreen might be. 
We will always have pets in our care, but 
the past few years have shown that we 
can and will do more in how we engage 
with people, to ensure that the need 
for care is minimised and pets stay in 
homes with their owners. To that end, in 
2021 we started writing our Pet Services 
Strategy and consulted with audiences 
both outside and inside the charity. With 
key principles set out in the strategy, 
next year we will look to implement it, 
designing and delivering more impactful 

services. We feel that, despite the 
challenges, at a time of most need, 
Woodgreen’s ambition and strategy 
means we can deliver more impact  
and in a more efficient way.

Last, but certainly by no means least, 
I have got to mention the Snowden 
Cat Care Centre. With leading edge 
functionality for such accommodation 
built into the design, it sets a standard 
that is difficult to match and is the 
envy of our peers. Amongst other 
things, its climate control system has 
already proven to be invaluable during 
the recent heatwave. The building is 
testimony to the level of care we want to 
provide and a tribute to Sheila Snowden, 
whose generosity in the legacy she left 
made it happen.

Dr Steven Carden
17 September 2022Another year passes, with another set of 

challenges being presented. This report, 
like others over recent years, reflects an 
organisation that is working very hard 
to support pets and owners, and in very 
challenging circumstances.

It has been a year of two halves. The 
first part was still influenced by the 
behaviours of people coming to terms 
with the pandemic, while many people 
learnt the joy of a pet for the first 
time. The second part was significantly 
impacted by people returning to 
work and adjusting to an increasingly 
challenging economic climate. It is this 
latter development that shows no sign 
of abating and is more likely to get much 
worse before it gets better.

We knew the desire to have a pet  
would plateau at some point, but  
the combination of returning to work  
and financial hardship has meant  
that the need for Woodgreen’s services 
is more evident than ever, so we’ve 
had to up our game. Everything seems 
increasingly desperate, both for pets  
and their people. It is not necessarily  
the amount of requests, but rather  
the need in each request that is 
becoming more profound. There was  
a bigger need for more complex care, 
and a lack of suitable homes for pets  
with greater requirements. And 
there were people at their wits’ end 
because they couldn’t afford to keep 
their companion. Indeed, there were 
countless occasions last year where our 
intervention was a life-saver. Things are 
unlikely to get better soon, but that is 
why we are here: to make a difference.

During 2022 we recognised that to do 
more, we need to be clearer about who 
we are and the support we provide. 
We also want to reinforce our position 
that to support pets in a more rounded 
way, we need to work with and support 
people, both existing and potential pet 
owners. So, whilst the presentation of 
Woodgreen hasn’t changed for a long 
time, our services have, both in breadth 
and sophistication. That is why we felt 
that the time was absolutely right for 
a rebrand, to promote the dual focus 
on “pets and their people”, and at the 
same time maintain the bias towards 

Chairman’s 
statement
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Strategic 
Report
Who we are 
Wood Green Animal Shelters operates 
under the trading name of Woodgreen 
Pets Charity (Woodgreen) and has  
been successfully caring for pets in 
need since 1924. We care for any pet 
that needs us, whether they have been 
abandoned, neglected, are vulnerable  
or simply need a home. At the same time 
we guide people to find the right pet for 
them and encourage the best standards 
of pet care. 

Our vision
Our vision is for every pet to have a  
home where they are loved, well cared for 
and enjoy positive relationships  
with their owners. 

Our Objects as stated in the  
Articles of Association are that 

Woodgreen exists to provide:
•  the relief of need of pets through  
   care and rehoming;

•  the education of the public as  
   to responsible ownership and  
   care of pets.

Our mission
Our mission is to care for vulnerable  
pets. We are committed to providing  
our pets with outstanding care and 
secure and loving homes and supporting 
pet owners and the wider community to  
build rewarding relationships with pets.

We do this through digital engagement 
and through our operations at our rescue 
centre, veterinary surgery, kennels, 
cattery, small animal centre and fields 
outside Godmanchester near Huntingdon.

In addition, our Community Outreach 
team based at Godmanchester work 
extensively throughout the region with 
schools and community groups to spread 
the responsible pet ownership message.
 

Our strategy
In order to achieve our Mission the 
Trustees have agreed a strategy  
with the following goals:

•  To ensure that pets and pet  
   owners in need of our help are  
   never turned  

We present our Trustee Report  
and Accounts for the 12 months  
to the end of March 2022    away.

•  To provide high quality care for  
   pets in need of our help.

•  To champion and increase  
   responsible pet acquisition,  
   ownership and relinquishment  
   across the UK.

•  To build a robust and resilient 
   organisation.

•  To be known and recognised for 
   what we do and our impact.

Consideration of Directors’ 
responsibilities
Under Section 172 of the Companies  
Act 2006 the Board of Trustees, as 
Company Directors, have a duty to 
promote the long-term success of 
Woodgreen. They have done that  
during the year by duly considering  
the impact of the decisions they  
make on the future of the organisation. 
They have listened to the views of 
different stakeholders who will be 
affected by their decisions and have 
weighed and considered the alternative 
options that were available to the 
organisation on each occasion. The 
Board believes they have acted in  
the best interests of the charity and  
in a manner which will bring about  
long-term success. The Directors  
consider the key stakeholder groups  
for Woodgreen to be its service users, 
financial supporters, employees and 
volunteers, its partners and its suppliers. 
The content within the rest of this report 
explains how Woodgreen engages with  
its stakeholders more generally.

 
During the year the most significant 
decision made by the board that will 
have a long-term impact on stakeholders, 
was to be much more explicit that the 
mission of Woodgreen is to support pets 
and their people. The rationale for this 
decision is explained elsewhere, but it 
was spearheaded by two key pieces of 
work. Firstly, the creation of an updated 
Pet Services Strategy that seeks to 
explain the importance of working with 
pet owners, or potential pet owners, as 
well as the pets themselves. Secondly, 
they refreshed the Woodgreen brand 
and introduced a new strapline – helping 
pets and their people. Both pieces of 
work involved consultation with relevant 
internal and external stakeholder groups 
and have been well received.

The board works very closely with the 
Executive team, in particular, through 
the sub-committees of the main board, 
which are covered later in this report. 
The Directors ensure that Woodgreen 
engages with the sector in a mutually 
beneficial way through participation 
in various sector groups such as the 
Association of Dogs and Cats Homes. 
Woodgreen also believes in developing 
strong partnerships with its key suppliers 
and this approach is embedded in its 
procurement policy. 

Besides the organisation refocus 
discussed above, the board has been 
working to ensure that Woodgreen 
emerges into the post-pandemic world 
in a financially sustainable position. This 
has been achieved by integrating the 
implementation of the Pet Services 
Strategy alongside the fundraising 
strategy and a long-term financial plan.
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Achievements, 
performance 
and future plans
How did the demand for  
services look during this period?
Woodgreen’s Pet Support team handled 56,700 pet related 
enquiries, with over 32,000 people contacting us through our 
dedicated helpline and a further 21,620 by email or social media 
channels. Our approach is to match the appropriate service to the 
pet and owner’s need. Like NHS 111, our team talk to the owner to get 
a detailed understanding about their situation, and that of their pet. 
This enables us to triage them into the best service. 

Many people reach out for help without knowing about the full range 
of services that we offer. They often don’t realise that we can help 
owners keep their pets if this is in the best interests of the owner 
and the pet, so it’s vitally important to make them aware of this. This 
also means that we can prioritise those pets who need us the most 
through our direct care services.

We took 2,282 pets 
directly into our care: 

636 dogs

and 785  
small pets.

• We placed 1,392 pets with Woodgreen fosterers. 
 The charity now has around 200 foster volunteers that have helped 
 increase the number of pets on foster by 9% compared to 2020/21. 
 Fostering gives people peace of mind that their much-loved pet will 
 continue to enjoy home comforts while being assessed and waiting 
 for their new home. It is also vital for supporting pets with complex 
 medical or behavioural needs.

• We supported 241 pets through Owner Home Care  
 (73% increase on 2020/21).   
 This service enables pets to stay in their home while we seek a new   
 home for them. It is a great alternative to rehoming privately and 
 also helps to reserve our onsite capacity for the most vulnerable   
 pets who need more specialist care. We had previously struggled 
 to include rabbits due to the high level of dental disease occurring   
 in this species and our need to ensure pets are fully health checked 
 and neutered (where appropriate) before rehoming. Our lead vet 
 worked with our teams and a process was implemented so that 
 rabbits, some of our most in need pets, could use the service. This 
 meant we were able to take in 57 rabbits last year – a huge increase 
 on the 2 we had been able to accept the previous year.

• We collected 265 pets from homes through our  
 Pet Collection service.  
 This is a lifeline for pets in urgent need of our help, as we can   
 bring them into our care if their owner is unable to do so.

• We successfully rehomed 1,615 pets, with over 99% 
 staying in their new homes with the support of our team.    
 We also developed a new post-rehoming support programme. This 
 included the provision of essential items such as enrichment feeding 
 toys, treat pouches and scratching posts to support the delicate 
 settling in period for pets starting a new life. We also made it easier 
 for new pet owners to reach out and engage with us for advice 
 and guidance in the early days of ownership. We achieved this by 
 putting in place catch-ups with our team at various points after 
 their rehoming day. These occur on day three, week three and then 
 the three-month mark. The early feedback we received suggested 
 this helped people feel comfortable asking us for help and support, 
 which gives a pet and new owner’s relationship the best chance of 
 long-term success. 

861 cats,

263 of these  
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A match made  
in heaven: Biscuit 
and Munch

Woodgreen’s mixing service plays a big 
part in bringing pets like these together. 
It enables owners to bring their small pet 
to Woodgreen and introduce them to an 
animal of the same species. Then, if sparks 
fly between the pair, we can rehome them 
with their new friend.

As you can imagine, it’s not always without 
its hiccups. Biscuit, a three-year-old dwarf 
lop rabbit, had no less than three mixes 
before finding ‘the one’. 

She’d been handed into Woodgreen by 
her owner, who was emigrating and sadly 
unable to take Biscuit with her. Aside from 
her claws needing a clip, Biscuit was in 
good health and ready to hop into a new 
home. The challenge was finding one with 
another rabbit who she would bond with! 
After the unsuccessful attempts to mix 
Biscuit (she’s very particular about her 
choice of new friends), we found her the 
perfect match at our centre. That rabbit 
was Munch, a two-year-old Harlequin 
cross. “They hit it off right from the start”, 
says Charles, small pets team manager. 

While waiting for a new home, they  
stayed with Woodgreen fosterer 
Laura, who said: 
 

“They’re great together and are “They’re great together and are 
always following each other around. always following each other around. 
You’d think they’ve been best You’d think they’ve been best 
friends all their lives.” friends all their lives.”   
We’re delighted to say the pair were 
rehomed together in June 2021 – the 
happy ending they truly deserve.

What makes a pet truly happy? For many, especially  
our smaller furry friends, it’s companionship.

Vinnie
Vinnie was an emergency arrival at 
Woodgreen in March. He’d suffered a 
serious injury to his third eyelid and his 
owner was unable to afford the veterinary 
treatment he needed. We took him 
straight into our veterinary surgery to have 
his eyelid repaired, where we also neutered 
him under anaesthetic. After his surgery, 
Vinnie was given a course of pain relief and 
antibiotics – everything he needed to help 
him heal and get back on his paws.

During his recovery period in our Cat 
Care Centre, it made the world of 
difference to have large spaces for Vinnie 
to easily explore whilst wearing a buster 
collar. The controlled temperature and 
improved ventilation system also meant 
that the healing process was much more 
comfortable for Vinnie. Before long, he was 
fully recovered and today he’s loving life in 
a new home.
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Mamba is a beautiful Labrador whose 
owner reached out for our help earlier 
this year. Mamba is a support dog who 
is trained to assist her disabled owner. 
She has limited mobility, and her canine 
companion would help with bringing 
her the medication she needed each 
day. But when Mamba developed a skin 
reaction and pain in her neck, she was 
no longer able to do this. The roles were 
reversed, with the owner now needing 
to support Mamba like her four-legged 
friend had always done for her. A local 
vet advised that Mamba should be 
bathed twice a week and put her on 

a course of pain relief to help with her 
neck. Unfortunately, her owner was 
physically unable to do the bathing 
– and this is where our Community 
Outreach team stepped in. We helped 
with the bathing of Mamba using 
medicated shampoo to help relieve 
any discomfort she was experiencing. 
We then made arrangements for a 
professional groomer to do a full coat 
strip (removing dead hairs) and assist 
with future support. As you can see, 
Mamba’s coat is now looking glorious – 
and she is a lot happier too!

Mamba To help more pets, it is important to minimise their length 
of stay with us. This has reduced over the 12-month period 
between April 2021 and March 2022 for dogs and cats, while 
for small pets it has increased due to external circumstances, 
which are explained below. 

From a rehoming perspective, the increasing cases of dogs 
and cats with complex needs coming into our care, both 
behaviourally and medically, have made it challenging to 
find them the right homes as quick as we’d like to. Pets who 
will need a higher level of training or medical support in their 
new homes have remained in our care for prolonged periods 
of time. And, unfortunately, there is often a lack of interest in 
them among pet seekers.   

•  Our small pet species have been 
  impacted by medically enforced  
  rehoming lockdowns to prevent 
  infectious disease spread,  
  particularly rabbits and chickens.  
  This has resulted in a significant 
  increase in their length of stay. 

•  Our pets needed 17,618 veterinary 
  interventions, from vet and nurse 
  consultations to medical procedures 
  and diagnostic work.

•  We carried out 1,833 operations, 
  ranging from routine neutering and 
  dental procedures to more complex 
  orthopaedic and joint surgeries.

•  Our partnership with the Royal 
  Veterinary College, the number one 
  vet school in the world, has continued 
  to add value to our care provision.  
  The vets they supply to us are of a  
  high calibre and fit well with our teams. 
  We enjoyed welcoming 122 final year 
  vet students for placements. This gave 
  them the opportunity to learn about 
  shelter medicine and the work the 

  charity does to support pets  
  and people.

•  We’ve been welcoming volunteers  
  back on site this year. Between  
  30 and 70 registered volunteers 
  provided support each month across 
  our three pet care departments.  
  We also trained seven of our cat 
  volunteers in ‘barrier nursing’ cats  
  to support our Cat team with the 
  ongoing vaccine shortage. This 
  ensured those vulnerable cats we 
  couldn’t vaccinate were safeguarded. 
  However, the landscape seems to 
  have changed after the pandemic 
  and many of our previous volunteers 
  have decided not to return or to 
  reduce the time they can offer 
  us. Volunteering is so important to 
  providing extra support and care  
  to our pets. It also offers opportunities 
  to individuals to gain valuable work 
  experience or improve their health 
  and wellbeing. Over the next year, 
  we will be focusing on attracting 
  new volunteers as well as supporting 
  our loyal, existing ones.

13Wood Green Animal Shelters Trustee Report and Accounts 2021-202212 Wood Green Animal Shelters Trustee Report and Accounts 2021-2022



Jude  
and Darla

This exuberant brother and sister duo 
arrived at Woodgreen in February 2022 
after the dog in their original home had 
attacked the pet rabbit, leaving the 
owner concerned for the five-month-old 
kittens’ safety. A head-to-paw veterinary 
check confirmed the pair were in good 
health, and they were neutered to prevent 
unexpected litters.

Adaptable spaces in our new Snowden Cat 
Care Centre meant that Jude and Darla 
could stay together in two interlinking 
units – and their carers said they had “the 
best time” playing together. The kittens 
had not been given outdoor access in 
their original home, so they also enjoyed 
venturing outside for the first time in one 
of the secure cat gardens. Jude and Darla 
have since been rehomed together, and 
we couldn’t be happier for them.

Being there for 
bunnies: Ronnie 
and Roxie’s story
When the owner of two ‘female’ rabbits 
– Ronnie and Roxie – discovered a litter 
of four babies, it came as quite a shock! 
After finding out Ronnie was a male, 
he was separated from their shared 
accommodation – but this seemed to 
have an effect on Roxie. She’d lost her 
long-term companion, and rejected her 
babies. Sadly, two of them passed away. 
But with our support, their owner was 
able to hand rear the remaining two,  
and they flourished. 

Although Ronnie had been moved, it was 
likely Roxie could be expecting again. 
And before long, another four bunnies 
arrived! We offered to bring mum and 
her babies into our care, and give them 
the best possible start. This meant Roxie 
could stay with her little ones while 
enjoying some extra space to stretch 

her legs. To prevent any more surprises in 
the future, we also provided the owner 
with a voucher to help with the cost of 
neutering Ronnie.  

Once the babies were ready to be 
rehomed, we found the perfect matches 
for them. We then neutered Roxie and 
arranged for her to return home, where 
she was reunited with Ronnie. But their 
bond wasn’t the same anymore and 
they didn’t seem happy. Despite our 
best efforts, we couldn’t rekindle their 
friendship. Fortunately, though, the two 
babies from the first litter were male and 
female, so it was still possible to split the 
group into two mixed pairs (usually the 
best way with rabbits). They got on great 
together, which meant all of the rabbits 
could stay in the home!  
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  population. A total of 59 pets received 
  free Health and Wellbeing Checks,  
  plus follow-up interventions. This was  
  an increase of 65% in the number of 
  pets we helped in the same area across 
  the two months prior to our activity.
  Ongoing support in the area is being 
  provided through local social media 
  channels, word of mouth and support  
  via the local foodbank.

•  For the first time, we have utilised five 
  volunteers in the customer contact 
  area to allow experienced staff to focus 
  more on how we can help keep pets in 
  homes and move the process along 
  more quickly, therefore meeting 
  customer expectations and providing 
  support where possible.

We supported 9,513 people in 
their pet ownership journey, 
helping to set them up for 
success while also detecting 
and preventing any issues in the 
future. A further 619,178 people 
actively engaged with our pet 
advice online content:

•  1,352 pet owners attended our  
  live online workshops and classes –  
  Reactive Dog Training being the  
  most well-attended. Feedback from 
  attendees has been overwhelmingly 
  positive, with pet owners rating it 5/5:

  “It is wonderful to have this resource    “It is wonderful to have this resource  
  to turn to and the ability to ask and    to turn to and the ability to ask and  
  hear questions. This helps build a    hear questions. This helps build a  
  bigger idea of what to do.”   bigger idea of what to do.” 

  “I have really enjoyed the workshops    “I have really enjoyed the workshops  
  and for the first time in 15 months had    and for the first time in 15 months had  
  a walk with Mabel, with no lunging    a walk with Mabel, with no lunging  
  after using some of what I’d learnt.”    after using some of what I’d learnt.”  

  “We thought the presentation was     “We thought the presentation was   
  excellent and certainly covers the   excellent and certainly covers the 
  behaviour we experience with our dog   behaviour we experience with our dog 
  –we’ll be trying out the techniques   –we’ll be trying out the techniques 
  explained.”   explained.” 

•  A total of 878 people engaged from 
  all around the world in our self-led 
  e-learning content which covers dog,  
  cat and rabbit ownership and care.

•  A further 284 families engaged in our  
  digital workshops on dog and rabbit 
  ownership and care.

•  While Covid still played a part in 
  disrupting our school-based education, 
  we were able to reach 2,790 school 
  children face-to-face and 4,209 
  children digitally.

•  A huge 34,502 downloads of our  
  online self-led classroom sessions  
  were recorded from the TES website.   
  www.tes.com

•  619,178 people accessed our online pet 
  advice, which represents one in eight 
  people visiting the Woodgreen website. 
  For those who took a survey included in 
  each article, 90% rated it as really 
  useful advice.

,

We supported 4,837 pets in homes 
across communities and beyond:

•  We delivered 1-2-1 behaviour and 
  training consultations to owners 
  of 994 dogs, cats and small pets, 
  which is a 21% increase compared 
  to last year. Our friendly pet specialists 
  give pet owners free advice, training 
  and behaviour support to manage 
  challenging problems. The support and 
  guidance we provide is grounded in our 
  real-life experiences directly supporting 
  pets in need. It also reflects the latest 
  developments and research in pet 
  welfare. The demand for these services 
  has increased significantly as pet 
  owners’ routines change to a ‘new 
  normal’ following the pandemic. 

•  83% of users of our behaviour advice 
  and guidance were able to keep their 
  pets and go on to have a more positive 
  and fulfilling relationship. 

•  The most common reasons for people 
  to seek advice for dogs were anxiety, 
  aggression towards people and other 
  pets. For cat owners, the primary 
  concerns related to house soiling and 
  aggression to other pets. Many owners 
  were also reporting multiple issues, 
  including the aforementioned. For our 
  smaller pets, advice was most commonly 
  sought about mixing (introducing pets 
  with a view to housing them together), 
  and handling.

•  In November 2021 we introduced a new 
  assessment model within our community 
  outreach work. This enabled us to   
  support pets with all five of their welfare 
  needs rather than just the initial ask for 
  help from their owner. As a result, we 
  have seen the number of interventions 
  we give to each pet increase across the 
  year, leading to a greater impact on 
  pet welfare and wellbeing. And we 
  

  anticipate a longer-term positive effect 
  on pets. This is because providing advice 
  and support which addresses all of a 
  pet’s needs will reduce the risk of them 
  becoming vulnerable in the future.

•  We spent a total of £41,293 
  subsidising pet care essentials 
  for pet owners in local communities. 
  This vital support helped them with 
  meeting the costs of pet food, 
  urgent veterinary care, microchipping 
  and preventative treatments. Other 
  financial contributions were supported 
  by successful grant applications from 
  the Bissell Trust towards neutering costs, 
  as well as corporate partners donating 
  pet food.

•  We financially supported the neutering 
  of 256 pets in the community by 
  working with Cats Protection and the 
  RSPCA on two “Trap, Neuter and Release” 
  programmes for feral cats. In addition, 
  we used our own facilities to support the 
  neutering of a further 125 cats.

•  A total of 1,022 pets were given 
  vital supplies of pet food through our 
  partnerships with three local foodbanks. 
  As well as food packages to support 
  pets for around five days, the foodbanks 
  served as an important referral point 
  into the rest of our community outreach 
  services for local pet owners. A fantastic 
  team of volunteers supported us in 
  collecting food donations, making them 
  into food packages and delivering them 
  to our food bank partners. 

•  Our first post-covid proactive community 
  outreach programme work saw us offer 
  Health and Wellbeing Clinics to owners 
  across one area of Littleport (East  
  Cambridgeshire) between February  
  and March 2022. This is an area 
  identified as having high levels of 
  deprivation and a large pet owner 
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Emori
Poor Emori was involved in a road 
traffic accident which left her 
seriously injured. She was then taken 
to a vets where they had no choice 
but to amputate her leg. Her owner, 
who’d had a change in lifestyle 
circumstances, was no longer able 
to keep her so they handed Emori 
into our care. As you can imagine, 
she was nervous and still quite 
shaken up by her experience when 
she arrived. But our teams spared 
no effort to give her everything she 
needed to settle, and get her road 
to recovery off to the best start. 
Whilst we searched for a match, she 
benefitted from two separate stays 
with Woodgreen fosterer Charli 
and then Emily. They helped her to 
gradually build up her exercise, and 
she went from strength to strength 
– paving the way to a loving home 
with her new owner, Pauline.

Inka Loki
Loki the kitten was found alone on 
a restaurant barge in Peterborough 
during the early hours of the 
morning. We don’t know for sure 
how he ended up there, but it’s 
possible he was abandoned. Loki’s 
finder took him home and did a 
great job of looking after him, 
guided by our support, before he 
was brought into our care. After a 
stay with one of our fosterers for 
some extra comfort and TLC, this 
friendly feline was found a home. 

When Inka started showing signs of a serious 
skin condition, her owner became very worried 
about what the problem might be. Inka had been 
increasingly itching her skin, making it very sore. 
But her owner wasn’t able to afford any veterinary 
treatment for her at the time, so they contacted 
us for help. We supported them with the cost of a 
consultation and treatment including medicated 
shampoo. In addition, we provided ongoing advice 
about a change in Inka’s diet to help prevent future 
skin issues, with an allergy being the likely cause. 
Over the course of eight weeks, we kept in touch and 
made a home visit to ensure Inka’s recovery stayed on 
track. And soon enough, she was given the all clear!
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Bella
Six-year-old Bella is a lovely Lurcher who was brought 
to Woodgreen in April 2021 by another charity. They 
weren’t able to give her the time and resources she 
needed, so they entrusted her into our care.

Woodgreen’s dedicated teams have spent more than  
a year helping nervous Bella build her confidence 
around strangers and other dogs, as well as tackling  
her separation anxiety. She’s currently in a foster home 
with Clare, one of the charity’s amazing volunteers. 
Clare said:  

“Bella is a cautious dog who responds well “Bella is a cautious dog who responds well 
to patience and a positive approach. Once to patience and a positive approach. Once 
comfortable, which doesn’t take long at all, comfortable, which doesn’t take long at all, 
she is so affectionate and laid back. She is she is so affectionate and laid back. She is 
very bright and loves the challenge of puzzles very bright and loves the challenge of puzzles 
and magic tricks involving hiding treats.”and magic tricks involving hiding treats.”

Lil' Diego
When the owner of Lil’ Diego the cat faced the possibility of having to give him up,  
she called us in tears.
 
She’d taken her feline friend to the vets for neutering, but they found he had a urine 
infection. Not only that, but he was also due his vaccinations. And with finances tight,  
his owner was unable to pay for everything. We wanted to help keep them together  
in any way we could, so we offered to contribute towards the costs. This meant he was 
able to get all the veterinary care he needed, and stay with his adoring owner. We  
also offered them some advice on what activities to do with him whilst he recovered 
from his neutering procedure.
 
Lil’ Diego is now back to living life to the full, and his owner couldn’t be happier.  

“I appreciate everything you have done – Lil Diego means so much to us.”“I appreciate everything you have done – Lil Diego means so much to us.”

Ten-year-old Felix came into 
Woodgreen’s care in February after 
his owner sadly passed away. Felix was 
extremely overweight at 9.7kg. The 
fur on his back was matted, as he was 
unable to clean himself properly. We put 
him straight on a weight management 
diet and clipped his matted fur. He also 
required a dental procedure to remove 
some rotten teeth.

Despite his size, large units in our  
Cat Care Centre allowed Felix to move 
around comfortably, with plenty of space 
to exercise and explore. After just a few 
weeks, Felix’s weight was down to 9kg. 
Since then, he’s found a loving new home 
where he’s continued to stay on track 
with his weight loss plan – giving him a 
healthier, happier future.

Felix
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•  We started to hear from more owners 
  who were experiencing problems with 
  their pets. For many, this was because 
  of a change in their routine and home 
  environment as life returned to a new 
  normal and we gradually emerged from 
  the pandemic. 

•  Pets in need of intake were suffering  
  from more significant medical and 
  behaviour problems. This meant they 
  need a higher level of care, and also 
  made it more challenging to place them 
  in new homes. These type of pets often 
  receive a lack of interest.

•  Despite this, there has been a gradual 
  decrease in pets’ length of stay over 
  the 12-month period between April 2021 
  and March 2022 for dogs (75 down to 
  64 days) and cats (53 down to 39 days). 
  Yet, there was an increase for small pet 
  species (88 up to 99 days). However, pets’ 
  length of stay is still greater than pre-
  pandemic times.

•  Demand for advice services and 
  engagement with our workshops and 
  classes increased. This is a positive sign 
  which suggests many people with pets 
  wanted to give them good care and 
  welfare and prevent issues occurring.

•  With animal numbers increasing on site, 
  we’ve continued to be vigilant when 
  it comes to infectious diseases. We put 
  measures in place quickly and efficiently 
  when these issues have posed a 
  threat or affected our pets in any way. 
  Fortunately, we have only had occasional, 
  often isolated incidents including rabbit 
  viral haemorrhagic disease, Coccidiosis, 
  and Parvovirus. When the largest ever 
  outbreak of Avian Influenza hit the UK, 
  with over 60 cases confirmed across 
  the country between November 2021 
  and February 2022, we placed all of 
  our chickens in ‘lockdown’ for a lengthy 
  period. Whilst this meant they couldn’t 

  enjoy their new run areas which were 
  added as part of a recent small pets 
  refurbishment, they were reintroduced 
  to these areas as soon as restrictions 
  were lifted in May 2022.

•  Another trend we have seen this year 
  is an increase in dogs being relinquished 
  which have originally come from 
  outside of the UK. These dogs were 
  imported during the unprecedented 
  demand for pets during the height of 
  the pandemic. In 2020, there was a 
  51% increase in imports of young rescue 
  dogs from Romania compared to 2019. 
  During December 2021 and January 
  2022, we admitted 24 dogs born 
  outside the UK. We already have some 
  disease screening in place for certain 
  non-UK diseases to safeguard pets 
  and people. But during this time, one of 
  our main areas of focus was identifying 
  an effective Brucella test to help our 
  risk management against Brucella 
  Canis (a contagious bacterial 
  infection). In February 2022, more 
  than 40 cases were reported in UK 
  dogs imported from Romania.

•  In January we saw the end of an era, 
  with our last two resident goats,    
  Bramble and Willow, sadly euthanased 
  due to their age, worsening arthritis 
  and general welfare. Moving forward, 
  the barn and adjacent fields will be for 
  chickens and other domestic fowl.

The broader 
picture – 
what were 
the highs and 
lows for pets? 
Demand for 
pets dropped 
significantly, 
with pet seekers 
decreasing from 
68,906 last year  
to 15,565 this  
year. The most 
significant drop 
was the demand 
for our dogs.
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A tail of  
23 rats
When the owner of a few rats found 
themselves with 23 after an accidental 
litter, they turned to Woodgreen. 
They’d been struggling to care for all 
of them and needed urgent support. 
Woodgreen outreach officer Serena 
made an emergency home visit the next 
day. The first thing she did was separate 
them to prevent any more potential 
accidents. She also assessed the 
situation and talked through how  
we could help. Serena’s recommendation 
was that the babies came into our 
care immediately, so this was swiftly 
arranged. Since then, they’ve all been 
found loving homes. And we’ll always 
be here for any advice or support their 
original owner may need in the future.

Oreo
This is Oreo, a sweet nine-year-old Labrador cross. She’s 
been waiting over 400 days for a new home – and 
we’re not giving up on finding her the perfect match.

When his wife very sadly passed away, Oreo’s owner 
was no longer able to meet her needs, so she was 
brought to Woodgreen. After leaving everything she’d 
ever known, Oreo was understandably a little sensitive 
and also didn’t seem comfortable around other dogs  
or children. But once she’s bonded with you, Oreo is  
full of personality and incredibly affectionate.

While waiting for the perfect new owner to come 
along, Oreo has been in the care of dedicated 
Woodgreen fosterers Alison and Taff Squire. Taff said: 
“Oreo is the best dog ever because she’s so loving,  
and she’s settled into our home really well. We’ve got 
closer and closer to her over the last few months and 
she’s a real joy and comfort to be around."

When two 
rabbits  
became 24 
Last year, we were contacted by a  
new pet owner who acquired rabbits  
for companionship during the pandemic.  
But things got out of control when two 
rabbits soon became 24! Despite doing  
her very best to care for them all, it was  
too much to cope with. She tried to  
rehome them but didn’t have any luck, so 
she reached out to us. Our teams pulled 
together to take in 22 of the rabbits; they  
also health checked and neutered them.  
This left the owner with two – the original 
mum and one of her babies (who was  
also female, ensuring no more babies).  

 

“It was so rewarding to help  “It was so rewarding to help  
keep them in the home with their keep them in the home with their 
owner so she can continue to enjoy owner so she can continue to enjoy 
their company,” their company,” 
  – Woodgreen outreach officer, Jo.

Felix
Golden oldie Felix lives with a recently retired gentleman who describes his feline 
friend as being his ‘entire world’. So you can imagine it would have been a huge 
shock when he found Felix collapsed and struggling to breathe. He was rushed to a 
local vets for critical care but his owner couldn't afford to cover all of his treatment 
costs. And there were no guarantees whether this treatment would even work, but it 
was his only chance of survival. When we received the call from Felix’s owner, we just 
had to help in any way we could. We contributed some money towards the costs so 
Felix could get the urgent care he needed. And a few weeks later Felix defied all the 
odds and made a full recovery.

Felix needed ongoing medication, so to help ease the impact of future costs we 
donated pet food that would last a few months – plus a toy for good measure! 
It was so wonderful to see Felix happy, healthy and back in the company of his 
favourite human.

“I cannot thank you enough for your help. “I cannot thank you enough for your help. If there were more people If there were more people 
like those at Woodgreen, the world would be a better place." like those at Woodgreen, the world would be a better place." 
– Felix’s owner.
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Some of the 
projects we 
have been 
working on

Pet Services Strategy  
2022 – 2025:  
In September 2021, we started  
work on our Pet Services Strategy to 
complement the broader Organisational 
Strategy and give our frontline services 
a directional focus, as well as a roadmap 
for the next three years. Using relevant 
pet and pet owner research, our own 
insights, sector and peer analysis, and lots 
of internal discussions and feedback, we 
finalised the strategy in March 2022. The 
infographic at the end of this document 
offers a summary. 

Measuring our impact:  
It’s crucial that we understand the 
impact of our work on pets and their 
people. So, last year we embarked upon  
a project to develop our Theory of 
Change and Impact, Evaluation and 
Monitoring programme. This ongoing 
project will result in a better approach 
to reviewing our work and directing 
resources to those services that are 
making the most significant difference.

Snowden Cat Care Centre:  
Our fantastic new 60-unit Cat Care 
Centre opened its doors in February 
2022, increasing our on-site capacity  
for cats by 50%. This bespoke, state- 
of-the-art facility provides a high-quality 
environment for cats that we can be 
proud of. We are already seeing the 
difference this is making to the cats in  
our care whilst they await a new home.

Small pets accommodation 
refurbishment:  
We refurbished several of our small 
pet accommodation areas to provide 
improved levels of care and comfort.  
This work has also increased our capacity 
to offer more help to the hundreds of 
small pets in need of relinquishment and 
rehoming every year. Plans are underway 
for a full redevelopment of all our small 
pet facilities, with the aspiration of 
matching the quality of our new Cat 
Care Centre.

Ezyvet:  
We introduced a new veterinary 
management system which has  
greatly improved the efficiency of  
our Veterinary team. With easier 
processes that help with note taking, 
recording, appointment scheduling,  
and dispensing of treatments, the new 
system has freed up valuable time for 
our vets and nurses. This means they can 
focus on providing hands-on care and 
treatment to our pets.    

Pet Central, our new  
pet and customer 
management system:  
We have been working hard over the 
last year with users to find out what 
we need from a new pet and customer 
management system. This resulted in 
over 500 individual requirements that 
have been evaluated and prioritised 
for implementation over several phases. 
Our current system is 11 years old and 
hasn’t been able to keep up with the 

•  •  

•  •  

•  

•  
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breadth of services that Woodgreen now 
provides for pets and people. We have 
been working with a supplier to build the 
new system in Microsoft Dynamics, which 
will give us a flexible platform that can 
adapt to changing requirements. It will 
make processes more efficient and help 
teams with cutting down on administrative 
work, leaving them more time to support 
pets. We aim to start using the new system 
in November 2022, then following a period 
of getting familiar with it, we will add a 
further suite of enhancements, which we 
aim to complete by March 2023.

The Adoption Mission:   
At Woodgreen, we are passionate about 
sharing our knowledge and experience 
as widely as possible. The more we can 
do this, the more it will benefit pets and 
their people. We also thrive on continuing 
to learn from pets and owners or carers 
who we interact with daily. So, we were 
thrilled to have the opportunity to start 
working with Mars Petcare on a new 
initiative called The Adoption Mission. This 

initiative includes a website dedicated to 
training staff and volunteers at charities 
within the Association of Dogs and Cats 
Homes (ADCH). We have added our dog 
related behaviour, training and welfare 
content to The Adoption Mission website 
for all members to access. Alongside 
this, we will be giving up to two free 1-2-
1 advice sessions to each charity, which 
they can use for dogs in their care or gift 
to an owner of a dog they rehome. We 
will also be holding quarterly live online 
Q&A sessions, which all charity staff and 
volunteers who have signed up to The 
Adoption Mission can attend. 
 
 
Dog relinquishment 
research:  
In September 2021, Woodgreen’s research 
officer, Natalie Powdrill-Wells, and 
collaborators from Hartpury University, 
Vicky Melfi and Sienna Taylor published 
a research paper titled, “Reducing Dog 
Relinquishment to Rescue Centres Due 
to Behaviour Problems: Identifying Cases 
to Target with an Advice Intervention at 
the Point of Relinquishment Request”. This 
paper offers an insight into alternatives 
to companion dog relinquishment such 
as seeking behaviour advice first from 
organisations such as ours. If more owners 
are willing to do this, there is real potential 
to keep more dogs with their families and 
avoid the stress and heartache involved 
for both parties. It is our hope that 
sharing the findings will encourage other 
animal welfare organisations to consider 
alternative ways to help more pets and 
people live better lives together. We're 
really looking forward to taking this area 
of research further and learning more 
about the impact of various interventions 
like the one outlined above.  

New pet seeker journey  
and advice platform on  
the website: 
We’ve improved the experience for 
people thinking about getting a rescue 
pet on our website. Online visitors can 
now see most pets we have in need 
of a new home. They can also express 
their interest in an individual pet or ask 
our team to match them to a pet. The 
new pages give a lot more information 
about the pet, including pictures, videos, 
training and medical requirements, home 
environment needs and a description 
of their personality. We will continue to 
gather feedback from users to inform 
improvements. 

Our new look advice pages give pet 
owners, or those considering getting 
a pet, free access to expert advice 
developed by our in-house teams. They 
now have an improved search facility 
too, along with clearer access to online 
workshops across the species. The site 
provides a one stop shop for all pet 
advice and support needs.

Working together  
to support pets and  
their people: 
To reach more pets and have an even 
bigger impact, it is important for us  
to work in collaboration with other  
like-minded organisations on issues 
relating to animal welfare. This year  
we have continued to actively work  
as members of the following groups:

•  Canine and Feline Sector Group
•  Pet Advertising Advisory Group (PAAG)
•  The Cat Group
•  CatKind
•  Dogs Die in Hot Cars (Weather)
•  Rabbit Action Awareness Group and 
   Rabbit Awareness Week
•  Animal Welfare Education Alliance

•  

•  

•  

28 29Wood Green Animal Shelters Trustee Report and Accounts 2021-2022 Wood Green Animal Shelters Trustee Report and Accounts 2021-2022



  After 296 days since first coming  
  into our care, we were so pleased  
  to find Dinky a new owner, Kayleigh,  
  who told us:  
 

“You can tell she’s 
been loved every 
step of the way.”

Dinky's story
Five-year-old Dinky came to Woodgreen 
in November 2020 because her owner, 
sadly, couldn’t look after her anymore. 
This sensitive soul didn’t cope well on 
her own – she had a serious case of 
separation anxiety. Woodgreen created 
a plan to get Dinky’s life back on track, 
but her journey with us wasn’t plain 
sailing. After finding Dinky a new home 
and giving her owners’ weekly advice on 
home alone training, it wasn’t long before 
she had to come back to us. Dinky’s 
new owners weren’t able to dedicate 
time to her training because of work 
commitments. She continued to be very 
clingy and would tremble if one of her 
owners left her alone in a room, so they 

couldn’t go anywhere without her. 
While we searched for a new match, 
Dinky benefitted hugely from spending 
time in the home of dedicated 
Woodgreen fosterer Charlotte. As well as 
offering some extra comfort, she helped 
Dinky with separation anxiety training. 
Charlotte split this up into tiny steps, and 
it was a slow but steady process. From 
leaving a treat when exiting the room to 
breaking down their ‘going out’ routine, 
her efforts eventually began to pay off. 
Dinky started to relax and eventually she 
could be left alone with toys and treats 
for ten minutes – a big improvement! 
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Looking to 
the future 
Now that we’ve defined our vision through the development of our  
Pet Services Strategy, we are looking forward to delivering even more  
positive outcomes for pets and their people throughout 2022/23. 

Our work over the next 12 months will see us working towards the following:

We will work with the community to proactively  
identify pets that are vulnerable, or at risk of becoming 
vulnerable, so they can receive appropriate support.

If we do this well, we will see:
•  Pet owners who are struggling are identified  
   and supported.
•  Vulnerable pets and owners are effectively 
   identified by Woodgreen.
•  Increased presence of Woodgreen in local  
   communities in a non-fundraising capacity.

Identify 

We will focus and reshape our resources so that we  
can directly support as many pets in need as possible.

If we do this well, we will see:
•  Enhanced volume and welfare of pets supported  
   by Woodgreen.
•  Increased number and proportion of successful 'rehomings'
•  Increased awareness among the public of the ways we  
   can support.
•  Owners accept help and feel supported to make decisions.
•  Owners take and sustain recommended actions to improve 
   their pet's welfare.

Support

We will provide support at the acquisition stage and in 
the early days of the pet ownership journey so that we 
can help create brighter futures for pets and their people.

If we do this well, we will see:
•  Potential pet owners know where to go for help/support.
•  More potential pet owners get good quality advice and  
   support before making their decision.
•  Increased awareness that certain channels of pet  
   acquisition can be problematic for pet welfare.
•  People have a better understanding of what to expect  
   as a new pet owner.
•  Owners are better able to recognise a problem or a need.

Prevent

We will share our learnings about the unique needs of 
pets to engage, inform and influence wider society to 
understand and act for positive pet practice.

If we do this well, we will see:
•  Increased recognition of pet care as an issue across society.
•  Increased public understanding of the five welfare needs  
   and good pet wellbeing.
•  An improved understanding across the sector and wider  
   public of the most pressing pet care issues.

Share
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Environment
Woodgreen has always taken a proactive 
approach to reducing its impact on the 
environment in many ways. For example,  
there is a wind turbine at the 
Godmanchester Centre that generated  
1.7m kwh of electricity, with 1.0m kwh 
exported to the national grid. Photovoltaic 
panels generate a further 8,000 kwh of 
electricity annually.

Actions taken at our main Godmanchester 
Centre during the reporting period include 
continuing the installation of LED lighting  
with movement detectors, as well as 

completing an upgrade to the wind  
turbine to improve its efficiency.

Plans for next year include carrying out a 
further review under the Energy Savings 
Opportunity Scheme 3, replacing our petrol 
/hybrid owned small vehicles with a fully 
electric vehicle fleet, and putting in place  
an Environmental Sustainability Policy. 

In line with the requirements for Streamlined 
Energy and Carbon Reporting, we have 
analysed our organisation wide energy 
usage, and these are summarised as follows: 

This analysis is based on usage stated in source documentation and has been 
converted into tCO2e using the UK Government GHG Conversion Factors for  
Company Reporting (2021).

UK energy usage covers all of our charitable activities and support activities carried 
out at our main site in Godmanchester and our retail network of 22 charity shops.
Total emissions of 285.74 tCO2e equates to 1.03 tCO2e (2021: 0.89) per full-time 
equivalent employee. The increase in energy consumption between the two years is 
reflective of the charity increasing activity levels as Covid-19 restrictions were eased.

In addition to the above, Woodgreen used 700,000 kwh of electricity generated 
from its wind turbine and solar panels. This is the equivalent of 149 tCO2e of emissions 
that otherwise would have been created had that power been drawn from the 
National Grid.

Energy type

Total

Electricity imported from the national grid

Liquid petroleum gas (propane)

Fuel claimed for business mileage

Natural gas imported from the gas network

Fuel used for owned vehicles

tC02e
2022 2021

156.34 124.95

0.31 2.02

56.15 45.61

51.04 26.54

21.90 21.00

285.74 220.12
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Financial
Review

Income
Woodgreen’s total income in the year was £17.1m (2021: £12.8m). This increase was due 
to an increase in legacy income to £7.4m (2021: £4.5m), and higher donations of £5.8m 
(2021: £5.2m). We also saw charity shop trading income rise to £2.6m (2021: £0.7m) 
following the exit from the Covid-19 lockdown measures imposed in the prior year. 
Despite the increase in legacy income, we are aware that there are still delays in the 
Probate system and with HMRC approving final estate accounts. 

Income from charitable activities is largely from animal rehoming fees, and the 
relaxation of Covid-19 restrictions meant this source of income saw an increase of  
23% to £0.2m.

Expenditure
Total expenditure increased by 17.5% to £18.1m (2021: £15.4m). The increase was due to 
resumption of activity levels reflective of the relaxation of Covid-19 restrictions, which 
affected all costs across the charity. Other trading costs increased to £3.0m from 
£2.3m due to the reopening of the charity shops. Expenditure on our charitable work 
was £7.1m (2021: £7.0m), which was less than budgeted due to a difficulty recruiting 
and retaining staff. 

Net position
Net income after investment gains shows a deficit of £0.9m (2021: deficit £1.0m), which 
is £1.3m worse than the budgeted surplus of £0.4m. This is largely due to the delay in the 
sale of the two sites that were closed in prior years. Investment gains in the year were 
£0.2m (2021: gain of £2.6m) due to the financial market’s reaction following economic 
shocks caused by high global inflation and the war in Ukraine.

This year’s result means that total year end funds reduced by 3.7% to £23.3m, of which 
£0.1m were restricted (2021: £0.85m).

Fixed assets
Fixed assets are held to achieve the objects of the charity. Movements in fixed assets 
during the year are set out in notes 9 and 10 of the financial statements. Tangible 
fixed asset additions include the new Cat Care Centre at Godmanchester that was 
completed in February 2022 at a cost of circa £2.4m. Intangible work in progress relates 
to the new pet management information system that will be completed later in 2022. 

Woodgreen’s founding site at 601 Lordship Lane, London was closed in March 2020 and 
the site at Heydon was closed in March 2021. Both were marketed for sale during the 
year. The London site has been sold on a “subject to planning” basis and therefore no 
sale proceeds have been recognised. The site at Heydon is still being marketed.  

In October 2017 Bidwells performed a desktop valuation of the charity’s freehold land 
and buildings on an ‘existing use’ basis. The valuations of our Godmanchester, London 
and Heydon centres are not being adopted by the charity; the Council is of the opinion 
that the ‘existing use’ valuations of the sites do not give a true and fair reflection of 
their value to the Charity. Their inclusion at depreciated historic cost is considered a 
more appropriate basis, as stated in note 9 of the accounts.
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Investments
The charity held listed investments totalling £13.5m (including working capital) 
at the end of the year (2021: £13.2m). The investments are all held in a  
medium-high risk total return portfolio. The portfolio is long-term in nature 
and is held to generate both income and capital growth. The portfolio is 
managed by Charles Stanley on our behalf on a discretionary basis, subject 
to a risk profile and asset allocation agreed by the Trustees. JTFM Investment 
Consulting continue to act as our independent investment advisers, reviewing 
the performance of our investment managers.

Performance of the growth portfolio is measured against the MSCI Private 
Investor Balanced Total Return Index. This benchmark for the asset allocation 
has been consistently exceeded by our investment managers in the five years 
until March 2021. However, during 2021/22 the benchmark total return was 7.8% 
against our portfolio growth of 2.6%. The underperformance is partly due to 
the impact of our ethical investment policy that means we are unable to invest 
in the oil sector. This has been responsible for reducing gains in the second half 
of the year. Our investment policy targets a rolling five-year return of inflation 
(as measured by CPI) plus 3%. As at March 2022, the five-year return on the 
growth portfolio was 50.5% against the target of 30.4%.

As at 31 March the total portfolio was split as follows:

Woodgreen has an ethical investment policy which states that it does not 
invest, directly or indirectly, in companies that carry out animal testing for  
non-medical purposes. This includes organisations involved in any aspect of  
the fur trade.

Total listed investments

Listed equity investments

Other

Fixed and variable interest bonds and gilts

Cash

2022

8,688 9,461

1,820 2,949

2,075 569

952 235

13,535 13,214

£000
2021

£000

Reserves
As a charity we rely on a number of income streams including donations, 
legacy gifts, trading profits and investment income and gains. Legacy gifts 
and investment income and gains, in particular, are subject to large in-year 
fluctuations as can be seen when looking at the 2022 results compared to 2021. 
However, there will always be pets in need of our rehoming services and people 
who need our advice and education services. As a charity we are committed 
to providing a comprehensive ongoing service for them. To do this we need to 
maintain a level of reserves in case there is a short-term fall in income or an 
exceptional rise in costs. 

The Trustees have set a policy that requires 6-9 months of budgeted  
expenditure in free reserves. Free reserves are deemed to be the unrestricted 
funds remaining after accounting for our designated funds for fixed assets 
(£7.6m) and the revaluation reserve (£3.3m) – see note 16 of the accounts.  
As at 31 March 2022 the level of free reserves stood at £12.3m (2021: £12.8m)  
and represent 7.2 months’ of 2023 budgeted expenditure.

Restricted income is that which is given with a specific purpose and these are 
detailed in note 16. The balances remaining on restricted reserves at 31 March 
2022 only amounted to £0.1m.

Going concern considerations
The Trustees have carried out a going concern review. They have concluded 
there are no material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on our ability 
to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for at least twelve 
months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In carrying out the review, the Trustees considered the financial impact of the 
key risks facing the charity. A reduction in individual giving and a fall in legacy 
income are likely to have the highest short-term impact. The worst-case scenario 
would see this reduction alongside a fall in the value of our investment portfolio, 
which is where our unrestricted free reserves are invested. Stress testing shows 
that our reserves will be sufficient even if we see a 50% reduction in individual 
giving and legacy income combined with a 25% drop in the value of our 
investments.

Our approved budget for next year shows budgeted deficits of £0.7m in the year 
to March 2023 and £1.4m in the year to March 2024. 

The budgeted impact on reserves would result in unrestricted free reserves of 
£12.4m at March 2023 and £11.5m at March 2024. Both of these figures are within 
our target range of 6-9 months of budgeted expenditure. Most of our reserves 
are held within our investment portfolio, which are forecast to total £14.2m at 
March 2023 and £14.3m at March 2024.

The value of our fixed assets has also been reviewed. However, given that our 
operations are fully functional, there is no reason to reduce the carrying value  
or remaining life of any individual asset or category of assets. 
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Principal risks and uncertainties
The trustee body (Council) is responsible for ensuring that effective risk 
management and internal control systems are in place to manage the charity’s 
exposure to major risks. These include fraud and other irregularities. We operate 
a risk management framework designed to mitigate, though not to eliminate, 
major risks. It also provides reasonable, though not absolute, assurance against 
material errors or loss.

The charity has a comprehensive annual business planning and budgeting 
process. This process and the annual budget is approved by the Council. 
Performance is then monitored and reported on during the year in reports  
to the Finance and Risk Committee and Council. Major public, employer  
and property liabilities are fully insured. The Charity has risk management  
policies in place to identify risks arising from the external environment and 
existing operations.

Risks are assessed according to the potential strategic impact on the charity 
and their likelihood of occurrence. Controls are in place and are constantly 
reviewed and updated to manage these risks. The most recent update was 
approved by Trustees in June 2022.

The principal risks facing the charity’s objectives are summarised below,  
along with the main mitigating actions in place.

Principal risks Risk management

Raising funds
Negative economic impact results  
in a sustained reduction in cash and 
regular donations. (HIGH)

 
 
 
 

Legacy income is forecast to fall at 
least 20% below budgeted levels for 
the next two years, leading to the 
inability of the charity to implement  
its strategy. (MEDIUM)

Diverse fundraising base with 
investment to grow multiple 
channels. Strategy based on 
recruiting regular givers to improve 
sustainability of income. Significant 
investment and activity to drive 
legacy marketing. Invest in digital 
fundraising platform and function,  
as well as commercialisaton.

Regular monitoring of current 
performance, pipeline, and general 
legacy trends. Active marketing 
to prospective legators through 
increased activity and better use  
of data. Keeping products, such  
as Pet Promise, refreshed. Ability to 
switch resources to other fundraising 
channels.

Principal risks Risk management

Reputation
An incident, activity, decision, or 
event, resulting in an allegation 
against Woodgreen or the sector, 
whether true or false, that causes 
reputational damage to the charity. 
(HIGH)

Inability of the Trustees to hold 
the Leadership team accountable 
to develop, deliver and adapt 
corporate strategies and operating 
plans, leading to a stagnating 
and less impactful organisation. 
(MEDIUM)

Serious safeguarding issue affecting 
a customer or supporter resulting 
from action by a Woodgreen 
employee or volunteer leading to 
reputational damage to the charity. 
(MEDIUM)

Staff briefed to report potential 
issues to line manager and/or 
Comms team, with the Comms team 
providing a reactionary response. 
Comms team also use media (social 
and print) monitoring agency and 
YouGov to monitor reputation, both 
instantaneously and over time. 
Policies are in place to deal with 
potentially controversial issues. 

Trustee sub-committees consisting 
of subject matter experts. Regular 
reporting to Trustees on strategic 
matters and the development of 
new strategic approaches and 
associated operational plans. 
Regular reviews of performance. 
Ongoing training and information 
provision to Trustees on their legal 
and sector role and responsibilities.

Fundraising Vulnerable Persons 
Policy. Public Interest Disclosure 
Procedure in the Staff Handbook 
for reporting. Mental health 
training to spot safeguarding issues 
internally and externally. Lone 
worker policies and procedures. 
Customers and supporters can 
access our complaints process to 
report concerns. Whistleblowing 
Policy. Referencing and DBS policy. 
Mandatory Safeguarding eLearning 
training with compliance checks.  
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Principal risks Risk management

Business interruption
The inability to retain or recruit 
staff of the right calibre and/or 
maintain morale, which impacts the 
performance of the organisation 
and its capacity to deliver its 
strategic priorities. (HIGH)

Theft, destruction, or corruption of 
customer and/or supporter data. 
The consequences could include 
reputational damage, inability to 
contact supporters/customers, 
and inability to collect payments. 
(MEDIUM)

Regional or national disease 
epidemic negatively affects the 
accessibility and delivery of pet 
services. (MEDIUM)

Policies and procedures are in place  
to ensure pay equity. Investment  
has been made in hiring systems, 
discipline specific job boards and a 
suitably qualified and experienced 
talent team to facilitate in-house 
search and recruitment. The People 
team is continuously monitoring labour 
turnover for insight to spot trends  
and put actions in place. We are 
creating a positive organisational 
culture through the development of  
our Ways of Working. Biennial 
engagement surveys are in place 
for staff feedback and temperature 
checks on morale. Clear Review system 
introduced to improve performance 
management and engagement.

Data transfers adhere to industry 
security standards. Only relevant 
recognised users have access to data. 
Platforms such as Sharepoint have 
security of which only the named person 
has access, and this access cannot 
be transferred. Data is destroyed/
deleted once it has been used for 
the temporary purpose. IT security 
measures restrict external attacks and 
penetration testing is done regularly. 
The Data Governance Assurance 
Framework now has no significant data 
risks not addressed.

Business Continuity Plans and Incident 
Management processes are well 
established and have been fully tested. 
Many staff can work from home as 
all systems are accessible remotely; 
healthy pets can be housed with 
fosterers; the majority of the animal 
rehoming journey can be carried out 
remotely. Site development plans 
continue to recognise importance of 
ability to isolate sections or areas.

Principal risks Risk management

Financial
Serious financial fraud is carried  
out against the charity. (MEDIUM)

Procurement procedures; dual 
payment authorisation; rigorous 
bank detail change controls; 
strong internet banking security; 
continuous training on cyber 
threats; segregation of duties; and 
regular reconciliations. Cyber crime 
insurance is in place. Cyber Security 
training is now a compulsory training 
course for all staff.

People
Woodgreen’s people are our most valuable asset. We rely on their skills, experience, 
and knowledge to deliver the charity’s mission to improve pet’s and people’s lives. 
We could not do what we do without the dedication of our 312 employees. Our 
volunteers also play a crucial role through the time they give in our retail shops 
and frontline services, as well as fundraising and supporting us in other ways. In 
2021/22 we had the support of 865 people who chose to volunteer, giving us 
245,790 hours in donated time. Throughout this period the Covid-19 pandemic 
continued to impact our colleagues and cause disruption to our normal ways of 
working. We continued to provide as much support as possible, facilitating hybrid 
working where the role allows, embracing digital technology and improving our 
policies, processes and systems. Whatever it took to make things faster and simpler 
for our colleagues and ensure we all remain connected.

Diversity and inclusion underpin our ‘One Team’ core value. We comply with the 
Equality Act 2010, ensuring an inclusive working environment free of discrimination 
at all stages of the employment life cycle, and we continually review for bias 
within our policies and practices across the organisation. We have zero tolerance 
for behaviour, attitudes and language which may be deemed to be offensive, 
derogatory or discriminatory, ensuring it is not overlooked but challenged, with 
the aim of effecting change or redress.

Being a diverse and inclusive employer is so important to us. We are able to record, 
track and report the protected characteristics of our employees and candidates, 
specifically in relation to their age, gender, race, ethnicity, nationality, faith, sexual 
identification and gender reassignment. The insights gained will inform our equality, 
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diversity and inclusion plan to embed EDI 
in our culture. Involving and consulting 
our staff on significant organisational 
initiatives is done through our Staff Forum. 
Each Staff Forum member represents a 
number of constituent colleagues to 
ensure that everyone has an opportunity 
to be kept informed and listened to. We 
also have a person dedicated to internal 
communication that allows staff and 
volunteers to be kept updated with the 
day-to-day activities of Woodgreen as 
well as longer-term strategic developments 
and organisational performance.

We have not been immune to “the  
great resignation”, the ongoing global  
phenomenon that describes record 
numbers of people leaving their jobs  
after the pandemic triggered a shift in 
their priorities. In this financial year 71  
staff voluntarily resigned from their job,  
an increase of 97% from 2020/21 (36). 
During this period, we recruited into 106 
positions and supported these new hires 

with the introduction of a new digital 
onboarding process.

Consequently, employee retention and 
morale is the most significant risk on the 
corporate risk register, and we took a 
number of actions in this period to mitigate  
this. The Remuneration Committee’s remit 
and terms of reference was reviewed  
and changed to incorporate wider people 
matters. In addition to the overarching 
principles, parameters and affordability 
of the Remuneration Policy, the purpose 
of the renamed “People Resource 
Committee” is to consider, oversee and 
evaluate the appropriateness of our 
People Strategy. This includes providing 
necessary challenges on the strength 
and effectiveness of our plans, policies 
and frameworks. All of these enable us to 
attract, motivate and retain an inclusive 
and diverse selection of directors, staff 
and volunteers. They also ensure we have 
the right skills, expertise, structures and 
conditions in place to enable the charity 
to achieve its strategic aims. Therefore, any 
feedback on these plans is very important 
to us.

As the cost of living increased, fuelled 
further by the impact of events in Ukraine, 
we were pleased to be able to give staff  
an ad hoc pay award of circa 2% in 
October 2021. In addition, we provided 
staff with a non-consolidated bonus in 
March 2022, ahead of the annual pay 
award of 3% on 1 April 2022. We were 
also delighted that the work we had 
undertaken the previous year on job 
evaluation and introducing new pay bands 
was reflected in our 2021 gender pay 
gap. In 2021 the median gender pay gap 
reduced to 0.6% – the lowest it’s ever 
been at Woodgreen – compared to 6.7% 
last year and 11.2% in 2019. This is below 
organisations in the same sector (charities/
not-for-profit: 2.2%) and considerably 
below the UK national average of 15%. 

Learning and development for our people was expanded. We introduced our  
new first-line management programme “Leading with Pride” and strategic 
development programmes for directors and senior leaders. Digital technology 
was utilised to deliver these when we were not able to meet face to face. Last 
year, we trained 132 employees and managers and a further 42 e-learning 
courses were completed by 511 staff and volunteers.

Our plans for 2022/23 continue to focus on the retention  
and wellbeing of our staff and volunteers through:

•  The introduction of a continuous 
   performance review process, enabling 
   people to be rewarded for their 
   contribution to the charity.

•  Focusing on developing wellbeing 
   programmes and benefits that enhance 
   the employee experience and increase 
   engagement. 
 

•  The introduction of a Resolution 
   Framework which replaces traditional 
   discipline and grievance procedures. 
   This will identify the most appropriate 
   route to resolution in each case.

•  The recruitment of a new head of 
   volunteer engagement to implement 
   new systems and processes which 
   will support volunteers and volunteer 
   leads, as well as enhance the volunteer 
   experience at Woodgreen.
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Fundraising and 
our supporters
The last year has been truly exceptional  
for fundraising and we are, as ever, 
indebted to the generous and unwavering 
support provided by our donors and 
volunteers. They’ve helped Woodgreen 
raise £15.8m of voluntary income, with gifts 
from donations and legacies of £13.1m, up 
more than £3.4m or 35% on the previous 
year, and the best in the charity’s history.  

Income from both legacy gifts and 
fundraising donations exceeded 
expectations and it is clear the work 
Woodgreen undertakes for pets and  
their people is deeply important to long 
-standing and new supporters alike. 

Legacy income rebounded from a 
challenging year in 2020/21. During  
this period we experienced issues with 
external administration, from the granting 
of probate through to tax assessments 
and processing, which impacted the 
number of gifts Woodgreen received.  
The backlog that developed, affecting 
us and the wider sector, is slowly being 
resolved. We have seen income and 
notifications for new gifts rising steadily  
as a result.

The total value of gifts from bequests 
was more than £7.3m for the year and 
we expect this figure to rise again in the 
coming years. This reflects trends in the 
sector and is underpinned by our recent 
investment in legacy marketing. The 
importance of this can’t be overestimated 
– it ensures everyone we speak to 
understands the incredible difference a 
legacy gift can make to pets and people.

Nothing demonstrates the generosity and 
impact such gifts can have more than the 
opening of the Snowden Cat Care Centre 
this year (see page 26). 
 
The centre was largely funded by a 
generous legacy from Sheila Snowden  
in 2019 and we were delighted to 
welcome members of the Snowden  
family to visit the new Cat Care Centre. 
It was a pleasure to show them the 
incredible facilities we now have to  
care for cats and kittens in need. 

We have and continue to invest in growing 
our fundraising. These funds enable us to 
make the biggest impact we can – being 
there for every pet and owner who needs 
us. This is a carefully considered strategy, 
recognising that investment in fundraising 
must be balanced against directing 
funds to charitable activities. However, 
as we continue to focus on transforming 
our existing pet services, now is the right 
time to create greater scope within our 
fundraising for the years ahead. 

This investment is bringing excellent 
returns with donations growing from 5.2m 
(2020/21) to £5.8m (2021/22) – up 10%. 
Building on incredible support during 
the pandemic, our appeals continue to 
exceed expectations. The number of 
regular givers – so important for financial 
planning and sustainability at Woodgreen 
– continues to grow. In addition, the 
number of people choosing to support  
us with a Direct Debit increased over  
the year from 29,164 to 37,089. 

Across all our fundraising we’ve had 
the opportunity to talk to members of 
the public about the work we do and 
the difference they can help make. At 
a time when the financial pressures 
on individuals and households across 
the UK are so acute, it is humbling that 
so many people continue to commit 
to supporting us with gifts large and 
small. Their generosity is unstinting and 
highlights a shared commitment to do 
whatever it takes to ensure pets and 
pet owners have the support they need. 
And to ensure pets are healthy, well 
cared for and in happy homes for life.
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After losing more than 7 months trading 
to the pandemic in 2020/21, we were 
able to reopen in April 2021 and slowly 
return to normal business. Our incredible 
shop teams – with the support of over 
600 volunteers – worked tirelessly to 
meet the public’s enthusiastic return to 
the high street. Retail income rose to 
£2.8m, with a net profit for the year of 
£532,000 (2020/21: £70,000 loss),  
far ahead of our expectations. 

We continued to expand our retail  
network, with new shops opening in  
Sudbury and Huntingdon. This work  
continues as we look for other sites  

across the region to generate additional 
income and awareness of Woodgreen.
There is no single more important 
ingredient in our retail success than that 
provided by our volunteers. Over 600 
incredible people, contributing their time 
and efforts to sort donated stock, help 
customers and process sales, gave over 
135,000 hours, with a value of £1.4m. 
Anyone who has visited our shops will 
know how these volunteers perfectly 
represent Woodgreen, how caring and 
considerate they are and how dedicated 
they are to supporting our cause. We 
simply cannot thank them enough.

Raising money 
for Woodgreen 

We receive no government funding  
and everything we do is possible only 
through the generosity of our incredible 
supporters and volunteers. We recognise 
that, now more than ever, people rightly 
expect that we fundraise in an open  
and honest, clear and respectful way.

We continue to work with carefully  
chosen agencies to deliver our 
fundraising, recognising that this is  
the most cost-effective option and 
enables us to reduce risk to the 
organisation. An important part of  
this is working closely with the staff  
of these agencies, as we recognise  
they are often our representatives out  
in the community.  We are heartened  
by the many important conversations 
they have with members of the public.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
They passionately raise awareness about 
the work we do and – most importantly 
– share stories of the many pets who so 
desperately need our care and support. 

We have careful safeguards to protect 
people in vulnerable circumstances, and  
we ensure these are followed through 
rigorous training, mystery shopping and  
other monitoring. In 2021/22, we received  
93 complaints, very slightly down on the 
previous year. We continue to review and 
consider every complaint individually, and 
we use this insight to adapt, develop and 
strengthen our policies and procedures. 
Ultimately, these efforts help improve our 
fundraising. 

Our fundraising and retail activities  
are regularly reviewed by the Council  
of Trustees and Senior Leadership team. 
We are members of the Fundraising 
Regulator and abide carefully by 
the Codes of Fundraising Practice. 
Supporting a charity like Woodgreen 
is a matter of choice, driven by a deep 
care for the work, impact and difference 
that a gift can have. We recognise the 
obligation this has on us, and we will 
continue to do everything we can to 
reflect the generosity that is shown 
towards the charity. Above all, we will 
ensure the support we receive is used 
in the best way to have the biggest 
possible impact on pets and their people.
 
 
 
 
 

This is the end of the Strategic Report.

Our charity  
shops
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Governance
Legal structure
Woodgreen is a charitable company limited by guarantee. The Articles of 
Association set out the charity’s objects and powers and is its Governing Document. 
The charity is governed by its Council of Management which consists of the Trustees 
as stated below and meets regularly throughout the year. As elected members the 
Trustees are subject to fixed terms of office. Decisions are taken by majority vote.

The charity has a 100% interest in its trading subsidiary, Wood Green Enterprises 
Limited, which runs non-charitable trading operations such as the sale of new goods 
in our charity shops and wind turbine electricity generation. Profits of the subsidiary 
are gifted to the charity in accordance with a deed of covenant.

As at 31 March 2022, the Council had the following committees which met  
during the year to advise on specific aspects of Woodgreen operations:

Appointment and  
induction of Trustees
Trustee recruitment and appointment takes place through a Trustee Search 
Committee that meets as required. This committee identifies the skills and 
experience likely to be of value to the charity and finds people with such skills 
who may wish to become Trustees or serve as a director of the charity’s trading 
subsidiary. An induction programme is offered to all new Trustees and further 
updates and training are provided as required. This includes visits to Woodgreen 
operations, meetings with the chief executive, members of the Senior Leadership 
team and other senior managers as appropriate.

Charity 
governance code
Woodgreen recognises that good 
governance is fundamental to our success  
in delivering for pets and their people.

During the year, we have developed our 
Theory of Change to enable us to prioritise 
and plan our activities in a way that 
maximises our impact. This in turn is being 
used to create our Pet Services Strategy, 
which was outlined earlier. Trustees have 
been involved in this journey and as a  
result we will be developing our governance 
reporting content to ensure that progress  
is monitored at every council meeting.

Risk management is taken very seriously 
by Trustees, and they carry out biannual 
reviews of the risks facing the charity 
and ensure that appropriate mitigations 
are put in place. As discussed earlier, we 
have recognised that recruitment and 
retention is the key risk facing Woodgreen. 
This is being closely monitored by Trustees, 
particularly by the People Resources  
sub-committee.

Also, this year we have developed our 
organisational values that we call our “Ways 
of Working”. Adherence to these values 
is critical for Woodgreen’s success and all 
Trustees have formally signed up to them to 
demonstrate leadership from the top.

Beyond “Ways of Working”, we also need 
to demonstrate our commitment to animal 
welfare, which is inherent to our mission.  

In June 2021, we reaffirmed our 
commitment to ban all investment  
holdings in companies that carry out  
non-medical animal testing as well as  
all companies linked to the fur trade.

Trustees have recognised there are  
some skill gaps in the current board  
make-up as well as a lack of diversity.  
As a result, we are actively looking to  
recruit a number of new Trustees during  
the next financial year.

Finally, recognising the strategic 
importance of volunteering to  
Woodgreen, we have established a 
volunteer governance board with the  
full support of Trustees. This will ensure  
that we have a clear relationship with  
our volunteers and will include the  
creation of a Volunteers Charter.

Pet Services – which reviews animal 
welfare and education policies and 
projects, while also supporting their 
implementation.

Finance and Risk – which oversees all 
financial aspects of the charity including 
reviewing budgets, performance against 
budget, risk management, trustee 
report and accounts as well as setting 
and reviewing investment policy and 
performance.

People Resource – which oversees the 
remuneration policy of the charity and 
recommends major changes to employee 
remuneration and benefits to Council.
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Public Benefit
Charity Trustees have a duty to ensure  
that the charity’s work meets public 
benefit requirements and to report on  
this in their Annual Report. The many 
activities undertaken by Woodgreen  
are summarised in this report and Trustees 
have given careful consideration to the 
Charity Commission guidance on public 
benefit in their decision making.  

We believe that our work provides 
considerable public benefit by:

•  Rescuing at risk pets and placing  
  them in loving homes for life.
•  Educating and enabling the public  
  to better care for pets.
•  Ensuring that we fully comply with  
  the Animal Welfare Act for pets in  
  our care.
•  Offering volunteering opportunities  
  for those who wish to support our work.

Our work in supporting pets in need  
through care, rehoming and educating 
the public about responsible ownership, 
provides a benefit to society as a whole. 
Through our services, we support people 
who are concerned about their pet’s 
welfare, whilst also improving the lives of  
the pets we rescue.

Policies and 
decision making
The Council, assisted by the chief  
executive and the Senior Leadership  
team, is responsible for formulating the 
strategy and policies of the charity as  
a whole. This includes the approval of 
budgets and exercising financial control 
through regular financial reporting.  

The Council acts on advice and 
information from regular meetings with its 
professional advisors as required. It also 
retains a number of professional advisors 
in conjunction with the operation of the 
charity. The advisors currently appointed 
are listed in this report.

The Council continually monitors the 
charity’s performance throughout the 
year including measurement against key 
performance indicators. 

Reference and 
administrative 
details
Company details
Woodgreen is a company limited  
by guarantee, registered company  
no. 02073930, registered Charity  
no. 298348. 

The registered office is at:
King’s Bush Farm, London Road, 
Godmanchester, Cambridgeshire 
PE29 2NH.

President
Vacant

Vice Presidents
Dennis Baker OBE (until 19 August 2021)
Peter Burton OBE
Dr Peter Jackson MA BVM&S DVM&S FRCVS
Myriam Warburton
Celia Waldron

P F R

Reappointed 1 July 2021

Resigned 18 August 2022

Reappointed 1 July 2021

Reappointed 1 July 2021

Reappointed 1 July 2021

Resigned 17 September 2022

Reappointed 1 July 2021

Reappointed 18 September 2021

Appointed 7 November 2020

Resigned 6 June 2022

External Auditors	
Crowe U.K. LLP
55 Ludgate Hill
London, EC4M 7JW

Investment managers 
Charles Stanley
55 Bishopsgate, 
London, EC2N 3AS

Investment advisers	
JT Financial Management
Spaces Station View, Austen 
House, Guildford, GU1 4AR

Bankers	
NatWest
92 High Street, 
Huntingdon, PE29 3DT

Solicitors	  
HCR
50 - 60 Station Rd, 
Cambridge CB1 2JH

Council of Management (Trustees)

   Dr Steven Carden, Chair

   Angela Au MA (Cantab) FCA

   Duncan Canney BSc (hons) Civ Eng FCA

   John Cousins BSc, Treasurer

   Pamela Gee 

   Janet South BA FIoF

   Jonathan Younger BA DipISP DipIDM

   Lynn Povey LLB (hons)

   Sarah Jaggers BSc (hons), MBA, MSc

   Colin Alder

P - member of Pet Services Committee
F - member of Finance and Risk Committee
R - member of People Resource Committee

Executive
Council delegates policy implementation to the chief executive who  
manages Woodgreen through the Senior Leadership team based in Godmanchester:

Clive Byles			      Chief executive
Ian Briggs			      Director of corporate services/deputy chief executive
Linda Cantle			     Director of pet and owner support services
Vanessa Cunningham	    Director of care and veterinary services
Justin Morris			      Director of digital services and customer insight
Rohan Putter			     Director of income and engagement

Principal professional advisors
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Trustee responsibility statement
The Trustees (who are also directors of Wood Green Animal Shelters for the purposes 
of company law) are responsible for preparing the Trustees' Annual Report and the 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) including FRS102.

Company and Charity law requires the Trustees to prepare financial statements 
for each financial year, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
charitable company and of the incoming resources and application of resources of 
the charitable company for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the 
Trustees are required to:

•  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
•  observe the methods and principles in the charities SORP 2015 (FRS 102) 
•  make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
•  state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject 
   to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and
•  prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate 
   to presume that the charitable company will continue in operation.
 
The Trustees are responsible for keeping adequate and proper accounting records that 
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the charitable 
company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the 
Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the 
charitable company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

In so far as each of the Trustees are aware there is no relevant audit information of 
which the Charity’s auditor is unaware. Each of the Trustees has taken all the steps that 
they ought to have taken as Trustees to make themselves aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the Charity’s auditor is aware of that information.

Auditors
Crowe U.K. LLP were appointed by the Trustees as the Charity’s auditors on  
7 December 2017.

The Trustees’ Report and Strategic Report were approved by the Trustees in their 
capacity as Directors of the company on 17 September 2022 and are signed on  
their behalf by

 

Dr Steven Carden, Chairman
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Independent 
auditors’ report 
to the members 
of Wood Green 
Animal Shelters
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Wood Green Animal Shelters  
(‘the charitable company’) and its subsidiaries (‘the group’) for the year ended  
31 March 2022 which comprise the Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities 
(incorporating an Income and Expenditure Account), the Group and Charity  
Balance Sheets, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and notes to the financial 
statements, including significant accounting policies. The financial reporting  
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and  
United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102  
The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland  
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and the charitable  
 company’s affairs as at 31 March 2022 and of the group’s income and expenditure,  
 for the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally  
 Accepted Accounting Practice; and

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing 
(UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report. We are independent of the group in accordance 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the trustees' use 
of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material 
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, 
may cast significant doubt on the charitable company's or the group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the 
financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the trustees with respect to going 
concern are described in the relevant sections of this report.

Other information
The trustees are responsible for the other information contained within the annual 
report. The other information comprises the information included in the annual 
report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, 
except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent 
material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a 
material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work 
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion based on the work undertaken in the course of our audit: 
• the information given in the trustees’ report, which includes the directors’ report 
 and the strategic report prepared for the purposes of company law, for the 
 financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with 
 the financial statements; and

• the strategic report and the directors’ report included within the trustees’ report 
 have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.
 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and charitable company 
and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified 
material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report included 
within the trustees’ report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which 
the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:
• adequate and proper accounting records have not been kept or returns 
 adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and 
 returns; or
• certain disclosures of trustees' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of Trustees
As explained more fully in the trustees’ responsibilities statement set out on page 
54, the trustees (who are also the directors of the charitable company for the 
purposes of company law) are responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such 
internal control as the trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are responsible for assessing 
the charitable company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the trustees either intend to liquidate the charitable company 
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to  
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements. 

Details of the extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting 
irregularities, including fraud and non-compliance with laws and regulations are  
set out below. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting 
irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and 
regulations. We identified and assessed the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements from irregularities, whether due to fraud or error, and 
discussed these between our audit team members. We then designed and 
performed audit procedures responsive to those risks, including obtaining audit 
evidence sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks within 
which the charitable company and group operates, focusing on those laws and 
regulations that have a direct effect on the determination of material amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements. The laws and regulations we considered 
in this context were the Companies Act 2006, the Charities Act and taxation 
legislation together with the Charities SORP (FRS 102). We assessed the required 
compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our audit procedures on the 
related financial statement items. 

In addition, we considered provisions of other laws and regulations that do not 
have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which 
might be fundamental to the charitable company’s and the group’s ability to 
operate or to avoid a material penalty. We also considered the opportunities and 
incentives that may exist within the charitable company and the group for fraud. 
The laws and regulations we considered in this context for the UK operations were 
employment legislation, health and safety legislation, animal welfare regulations, 
fundraising regulations and General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). 

Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to identify non-compliance 
with these laws and regulations to enquiry of the Trustees and other management 
and inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if any. 
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We identified the greatest risk of material impact on the financial statements 
from irregularities, including fraud, to be within the timing of recognition of legacy 
and other income and the override of controls by management, in particular the 
appropriateness of journal entries. Our audit procedures to respond to these risks 
included enquiries of management and the Finance & Risk Committee about their 
own identification and assessment of the risks of irregularities, sample testing 
on the posting of journals, reviewing accounting estimates for biases, reviewing 
regulatory correspondence with the Charity Commission, sample testing of 
legacy and other income and reading minutes of meetings of those charged with 
governance. 

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we 
may not have detected some material misstatements in the financial statements, 
even though we have properly planned and performed our audit in accordance 
with auditing standards. For example, the further removed non-compliance with 
laws and regulations (irregularities) is from the events and transactions reflected 
in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently limited procedures 
required by auditing standards would identify it. In addition, as with any audit, 
there remained a higher risk of non-detection of irregularities, as these may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal controls. We are not responsible for preventing non-compliance and 
cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations. 

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the charitable company’s members, as a body, in 
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit  
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the charitable company’s 
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report 
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept 
or assume responsibility to anyone other than the charitable company and the 
charitable company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or 
for the opinions we have formed.

Tim Redwood
Senior Statutory Auditor
For and on behalf of
Crowe U.K. LLP
Statutory Auditor
London

3 October 2022

61Wood Green Animal Shelters Trustee Report and Accounts 2021-202260 Wood Green Animal Shelters Trustee Report and Accounts 2021-2022



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES (INCORPORATING AN INCOME  
AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT) FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Unrestricted 
funds

£’000
Income

Other trading 
activities

Investment 
income

Total income

Donations  
and legacies

Charitable 
activities

Note

2

3

4

5

Restricted 
funds

£’000

2022 
Total funds

£’000

2021 
Total funds

£’000

13,111

198

3,445

303

17,057

11

-

-

-

11

13,122

198

3,445

303

17,068

9,700

161

2,586

399

12,846

Expenditure

Investment 
management fees

Donations  
and legacies

Other trading 
activities

(7,939)

(3,001)

(74)

-

-

-

(7,939)

(3,001)

(74)

(6,068)

(2,308)

(80)

Raising funds

(18,123) (6) (18,129) (15,426)

(5,172)

(1,937)

-

-

(6)

-

(5,172)

(1,943)

-

(5,085)

(1,885)

-

Charitable activities:

Other 
expenditure

Animal rehoming 
and care services

Education and 
awareness

Net (expenditure) 
/income (899) 5 (894) (25)

107

60

-

-

107

60

2,452

103

Net gain on 
investments

Net gain on 
investment 
properties

751 (751) - -Transfers

NET MOVEMENT 
IN FUNDS (148) (746) (894) (25)

All activities relate to continuing operations. There were no other recognised gains or losses other 
than those stated above.  

The notes on pages 65 to 90 form part of these financial statements. 

Reconciliation 
of funds

23,330 850 24,180 24,205Total funds at 1 April

12

6Total expenditure

TOTAL FUNDS  
AT 31 MARCH 23,182 104 23,286 24,180

16

16

BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 MARCH 2022 
COMPANY REGISTERED NUMBER: 02073930

 Group
 2022 

 £’000
Fixed assets

Investment 
Property

Investments

Total fixed assets

Intangible assets

Tangible assets

Note

10

9

11

12

 Group
 2021 

 £’000

 Charity
 2022 

 £’000

 Charity
 2021 

 £’000

324

7,280 

623 

13,535 

21,762

112

5,361 

563 

13,214 

19,250

324

7,280 

623 

13,540 

21,767 

112

5,361 

563 

13,219

19,255

Current assets

Cash at bank  
and in hand

Stocks

Debtors

43

1,884  

1,229  

48

1,265

4,658

43

2,225

883

48

1,564

4,340

1,693 5,083 1,678 5,073

Total assets less 
current liabilities 23,455 24,333 23,445 24,328

(169) (153) (169) (153) Provisions

NET ASSETS 23,286 24,180 23,276 24,175

The deficit as per the Statement of Financial Activities for the parent charity only is £893,703 
(2021: £21,813 deficit).

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Council of Management  
on 17 September 2022 and were signed on its behalf by:

Net current assets

3,156 5,971 3,151 5,952Total current assets

13

14

(1,463) (888) (1,473) (879)
Creditors: amounts 
due within one year 15

The funds of the charity

General funds

Designated funds

Revaluation reserve

7,604 

3,290

12,288

6,553 

4,020

12,757

7,604

3,290

12,278

6,553

4,020 

12,752

23,286 24,180 23,276 24,175NET ASSETS

Restricted funds 104 850 104 85016

15

16

16

16

Dr Steven Carden, Chairman	        Mr J M Cousins, Treasurer

The notes on pages 65 to 90 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Cash flows from operating activities

Net cash used in operating activities

Note

18

 2022
 £’000

 2021
 £’000

 (714) (2,146)

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of property, plant 
and equipment

Dividends, interest and rents from investments

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

303

(2,806)

2

399 

(387)

3

4,658 1,164

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 
THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD 1,229 4,658

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the reporting period

(2,715) 5,640 Net cash provided by investing activities

(3,429) 3,494 Change in cash and cash equivalents in the 
reporting period

The notes on pages 65 to 90 form part of these financial statements.

Movement in investment cash

Purchase of investments

Proceeds from sale of investments 4,148

(717)

(3,645)

 6,238 

1,298 

(1,911)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Accounting Policies

Basis of preparation and consolidation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Accounting  
and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable  
to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1 
January 2015) - (Charities SORP (FRS 102)), the Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) and the Companies  
Act 2006.

Group financial statements and consolidation
The Charity meets the definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102. Assets 
and liabilities are initially recognised at historical cost or transaction value unless 
otherwise stated in the relevant accounting policy notes.

The statement of financial activities (SOFA) and balance sheet consolidate the 
financial statements of the Charity and its subsidiary undertaking, Wood Green 
Enterprises Limited. The results of the subsidiary are consolidated on a line-by-line 
basis. No separate SOFA or cashflow statement has been presented for the parent 
charity alone as permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006. All entities 
prepared financial statements to 31st March 2022.

Going concern
The charity’s activities, together with factors likely to affect its future development, 
performance and financial position and commentary on its financial results and 
its cashflows, are set out in the Trustees’ report and elsewhere in the financial 
statements. The Trustees have concluded that no matters have come to their 
attention that would prevent the charity from being able to maintain its current 
charitable activities and trade with customers and suppliers and they therefore 
consider that it is appropriate for the financial statements to be prepared on the 
going concern basis.

Legal status of the charity
Wood Green Animal Shelters is a company limited by guarantee (registered number 
02073930), which is a public benefit entity and registered as a charity in England 
and Wales (charity number 298348) and domiciled in the UK. The members of the 
company are the Trustees named on page 53. In the event of the Charity being 
wound up, the liability in respect of the guarantee is limited to £1 per member of 
the Charity. The registered office is King’s Bush Farm, London Road, Godmanchester, 
Huntingdon, PE29 2NH.

1.

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4
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Fund accounting
General funds are unrestricted funds which are available for use at the discretion 
of the Trustees in furtherance of the general objectives of the charity and which 
have not been designated for other purposes.

Designated funds are unrestricted funds that have been set aside by the Trustees 
for particular purposes. The aim and use of each designated fund is set out in the 
notes to the financial statements.

Restricted funds are funds which are to be used in accordance with specific 
restrictions imposed by donors or which have been raised by the charity for 
particular purposes. The costs of raising and administering such funds are  
charged against the specific fund. 

Income
Income is recognised when: i) the charity has entitlement to the funds;  
ii) any performance conditions attached to the items of income have been met; 
iii) it is probable that the income will be received; and iv) the amount can be 
measured reliably.

Donations
Donations are accounted for as received. In the event that a donation is subject 
to fulfilling performance conditions before the charity is entitled to the funds, the 
income is deferred until either those conditions are met in full, or their fulfilment is 
wholly within the control of the charity and it is probable that those conditions will 
be fulfilled in the reporting period. Income from Gift Aid tax reclaims is recognised 
for any donations with relevant Gift Aid certificates recognised in income for the 
year. Any amounts of Gift Aid not received by the year end are accounted for in 
income and accrued income in debtors.

Donated goods
Donated Goods are recognised as income when the charity has control over the 
item, any conditions associated with the donated item have been met, the receipt 
of economic benefit from the use by the charity is probable and that economic 
benefit can be measured reliably. In accordance with the Charities SORP (FRS102) 
volunteer time is not recognised; refer to the Trustees’ report for more information 
about their contribution. On receipt, donated goods are recognised on the basis 
of the value of the gift to the charity which is the amount the charity would have 
been willing to pay to obtain services or facilities of equivalent economic benefit 
on the open market; a corresponding amount is recognised in expenditure when 
the service is utilised or the gift distributed.

1.5

1.6

Legacies 
Woodgreen recognises residuary legacy income at the earlier of the date of 
receipt or when the executors have determined that a payment can be made 
following the agreement of the estate’s accounts, or on notification by the 
executors that payment will be made. Pecuniary legacy income is recognised 
on receipt unless it is considered material (greater than 1% of total Woodgreen 
income) and there is non-contentious evidence of entitlement, value and 
probability of receipt, whereupon it is recognised in the same way as residuary 
legacy income. Life interest legacy income is recognised at the date of death  
of the life interest, provided the receipt and value criteria are met.

Trading activities 
Income from trading activities includes income earned from activities to raise 
funds for the charity. Income is received in exchange for supplying goods and 
services in order to raise funds and is recognised when entitlement has occurred. 
Income received in advance for a future event is deferred until the criteria for 
income recognition has been met.

Government grants
Government grants are recognised on the performance model, when the Charity 
has complied with any conditions attaching to the grant and the grant will be 
received. The grant in connection to the coronavirus job retention scheme has 
been recognised in the period to which the underlying furloughed staff costs 
relate to.

Interest and dividends
Interest on funds held on deposit is included when receivable and the amount 
can be measured reliably by the charity: this is normally upon notification of the 
interest paid or payable by the bank. Dividends are recognised on ex-dividend 
dates when the charity has unconditional entitlement to the distribution. Income 
accrued and not received on these securities at 31 March is included in the market 
value of the investments held. 

Expenditure and irrecoverable VAT
Expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to make 
a payment to a third party, it is probable that settlement will be required and the 
amount of the obligation can be measured reliably. All expenditure is accounted 
for on an accruals basis. Input VAT incurred which cannot be reclaimed is included 
as a cost. 

Where costs cannot be directly attributed to particular headings they have been 
allocated to activities on a basis consistent with use of the resources.

Costs of raising funds includes fees and charges for the management of the 
investment portfolio, fundraising costs and costs associated with trading activities.

1.7
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Tangible fixed assets and depreciation
Fixed assets are included at depreciated historical cost. Individual fixed assets 
costing £1,000 or more are capitalised at cost.

Depreciation on tangible fixed assets is provided at rates calculated to write off 
the cost of fixed assets, less their estimated residual value, over their expected 
useful lives on the following basis:

i)	 Freehold property – 2.5 to 4% per annum on a straight line basis;
ii)	 Motor vehicles – 25% per annum on a straight line basis;
iii)	 Wind turbine – 5% per annum on a straight line basis;
iv)	 Fixtures & fittings – 10 to 20% per annum on a straight line basis; and
v)	 Computer equipment - 33% per annum on a straight line basis.

Assets are reviewed for any indications of impairment at each balance sheet date.
Assets under the course of construction are capitalised on practical completion.

Investments
Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost less provision for impairment,  
if applicable.

Investments are a form of basic financial instrument and are initially recognised 
at their transaction value and subsequently measured at their fair value as 
at the balance sheet date using the mid-market quoted price (the difference 
between mid-market and bid price is deemed not to be material). The statement 
of financial activities includes the net gains and losses arising on revaluation and 
disposals throughout the year. 

The Charity does not acquire put options, derivatives or other complex financial 
instruments. 

The main form of financial risk faced by the charity is that of volatility in equity 
markets and investment markets due to wider economic conditions, the attitude 
of investors to investment risk, and changes in sentiment concerning equities and 
within particular sectors or sub sectors. 

Investment properties
In accordance with FRS 102 investment properties are revalued. Revaluations 
are undertaken periodically based on open market values. These are revised in 
subsequent years by reference to published indices or comparative evidence  
and assessment of the circumstances of each property.

Stocks
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, being the 
estimated selling price less costs to complete and sell. Cost is based on the  
cost of purchase on a first in, first out basis.

1.8

1.9

1.10

At each balance sheet date, stocks are assessed for impairment. If stock is 
impaired, the carrying amount is reduced to its selling price less costs to complete 
and sell. The impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Debtors
Trade and other debtors are recognised at the settlement amount due after any 
trade discount offered. Prepayments are valued at the amount prepaid net of 
any trade discounts due. Accrued income and tax recoverable is included at the 
amounts receivable at the balance sheet date.

Cash at bank and in hand
Cash at bank and cash in hand includes cash and short-term highly liquid 
investments with a short maturity of three months or less from the date of 
acquisition or opening of the deposit or similar account.

Creditors
Creditors and provisions are recognised where: i) the charity has a present 
obligation resulting from a past event that will probably result in the transfer of 
funds to a third party; and ii) the amount due to settle the obligation can be 
measured or estimated reliably. Creditors and provisions are recognised at their 
settlement amount after allowing for any trade discounts due.

Financial instruments
The charity has financial assets and financial liabilities only of a kind that qualify  
as basic financial instruments. The treatment of these instruments is described 
in the accounting policies above. 

Pensions
The charity operates a defined contribution pension scheme and the pension 
charge represents the amounts payable by the charity to the fund in respect of 
the year.

Operating leases
The charity classifies its leases of equipment as operating leases: the title to the 
equipment remains with the lessor, and the lease term is typically five years whilst 
the economic life of such equipment is in excess of this. The charity also leases 
a number of premises from which it operates charity thrift stores; these are also 
considered operating leases with a term of three to five years. Rental charges are 
charged on a straight line basis over the term of the lease.

1.11

1.12

1.13

1.14

1.15

1.16

1.17
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In addition to the legacy income recognised in the SOFA, the charity has been  
notified of 106 residuary legacies (2021: 84) with a total estimated value of £8,751,000 
(2021: £4,931,000). These legacies do not satisfy the criteria to recognise the income 
during the year. They are therefore disclosed as a contingent asset. 

All income from charitable activities received in 2022 and 2021 are unrestricted funds.

Taxation
The charity is considered to pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6  
of the Finance Act 2010 and therefore it meets the definition of a charitable 
company for UK corporation tax purposes. Accordingly, the charity is potentially 
exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital gains received within 
categories covered by Chapter 3 Part 11 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 or 
Section 256 of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the extent that 
such income or gains are applied exclusively to charitable purposes. Wood Green 
Enterprises Limited makes qualifying donations of all taxable profits to the charity 
at the discretion of the directors. No corporation tax liability arises in the accounts.

Accounting estimates and judgements
Preparation of the accounts requires the Trustees and management  
to make judgements and estimates.

The items in the accounts where the most significant judgements and  
estimates have been made include:

•    Income recognition of legacies 
•    Provisions that relate to dilapidation of charity shops
•    Estimates in respect of accrued income
•    Estimating the useful economic life of tangible fixed assets

1.19

2.

Unrestricted 
2022 

£’000

Donations

Restricted 
2022

£’000

Total funds
2022

£’000

5,759 11 5,770 5,139  

Legacies 7,352 - 7,352 4,438

13,111 11 13,122 9,577

Unrestricted 
2021 

£’000

15

108

123

Restricted 
2021 

£’000

 5,154

4,546

9,700

Total funds 
2021 

£’000

3.

2022
£'000

Income from animal placements

2021
£'000

189 156

Clinic and other services 9 5

198 161

1.18 Donations and legacies

Income from charitable activities
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Income from other trading activities

All trading income received in 2022 and 2021 are unrestricted funds. 

 
 
Investment income 

All investment income received in 2022 and 2021 are unrestricted funds.

4.

2022
£'000

Charity shops

2021
£'000

2,635 741

Retail government support grants 76 612

3,445 2,586

CJRS Claim 7 597

Other commercial trading 674 594

Fundraising events, raffles, 
and other income 53 42

5.

2022
£'000

Investment properties

2021
£'000

15 24

Listed investments 288 375

303 399

Interest received - -
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Net expenditure 
This is stated after charging: 

 
 

Staff costs and key management personnel
Staff costs were as follows: 

 

7.

 Group
 2022 

 £’000

Depreciation of fixed assets

 Group
2021

 £’000

Charity
 2022 

 £’000

675 641 675 638

Auditors remuneration for:

400 725 400 725

Charity
2021

 £’000

Audit services 24 19 17 17

Tax compliance services 3 3 2 2

Operating lease payments

2022
£'000

Wages and salaries

2021
£'000

7,166 6,615

Social security costs 636 575

8,233 7,577

Other pension costs 385 314

Redundancy and termination costs 28 55

Apprenticeship levy 18 18

Total staff costs

The average number of employees (full-time equivalent) during the year was as follows:

The average number of employees (headcount) during the year was as follows:

The number of higher paid employees was:

During the year, no Trustees received any remuneration (2021: £Nil). No reimbursement  
of travel expenses were made or are due to be made to any trustee in respect of the 
year (2021: £Nil). 

The charity considers its key management personnel to be the chief executive and 
the Senior Leadership team. During the year, the total employment benefits of key 
management personnel was £654,000 (2021: £546,000). 

During the year the charity paid a total of £29,000 (2021: £55,000) in redundancy  
and termination payments in respect of 1 employee (2021: 18 employees). The 
termination payments were all in cash and are a combination of compulsory and 
voluntary redundancy payments plus payments under settlement agreements. 

Employer pension costs for higher paid employees totalled £42,000 (2021: £31,000).

During the year, Directors and Officers insurance was purchased to indemnify the  
Council of Management against default on their part. The cost of insurance amounted 
to £3,106 (2021: £4,500).

2022
No.

Direct charitable activities

2021
No.

151 141

Raising funds 82 67

277 247

Support and administration 44 39

177 172

94 75

318 290

47 43

Total staff

Direct charitable activities

Raising funds

Support and administration

Total staff

3 2

2 2

- 1

In the band £60,001 to £70,000

In the band £70,001 to £80,000

In the band £80,001 to £90,000

1 1

1 -

In the band £90,001 to £100,000

In the band £100,001

2022
No.

2021
No.

2022
No.

2021
No.

8.
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Tangible fixed assets9.

Land and 
buildings 
£’000

Cost

Disposals

At 31 March 2022

At 1 April 2021

Additions

11,109

2,289

(13)

13,527

4,177

275

(224)

4,204

197

-

(18)

179

15,626

2,568

(255)

17,914

143

4

-

4

Fixtures, 
fittings and 
equipment

 £’000

Motor  
vehicles
 £’000

Work in 
progress
 £’000

Total
 £’000

Transfers 142 (24) - (25)(143)

GROUP and CHARITY

Depreciation

Disposals

At 31 March 2022

At 1 April 2021 7,310

317

7,614

2,793

308

2,852

162

24

168

10,265

649

10,634

-

-

-

Transfers (25) (25)-

Net book value

At 1 April 2021 3,798 1,384 35 5,361143

At 31 March 2022 5,913 1,352 11 7,2804

Additions (13) (224) (18) (255)-

  Intangibles 
 £’000

Disposals

Transfers

At 31 March 2022

At 1 April 2021

Additions

Work in  
progress
 £’000

Total
 £’000

-

63

-

92

155

112

175

-

(67)

220

112

238

-

25

375

Intangible fixed assets10.

GROUP and CHARITY

Cost

Disposals

Transfers

At 31 March 2022

At 1 April 2021

Additions

-

-

26

25

51

-

-

-

-

-

-

26

25

51

Depreciation

At 1 April 2021 - 112 112

Net book value

At 31 March 2022 104 220 324
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Investment Property11.

Freehold  
investment  

property
 £’000

At 31 March 2022

At 1 April 2021

Revaluation

Total
 £’000

250

60

310

313

-

313

563

60

623

GROUP and CHARITY

Valuation

Revaluation

At 31 March 2022

Historic cost 62

248

310

158

155

313

220

403

623

Comprising

Long-term  
leasehold 

investment  
property
 £’000

The properties were last formally revalued, at open market value, by the Council as at 
31st March 2018. The Council has considered the valuation of the freehold investment 
property as at 31 March 2022 considering the prices of sold properties in the area and 
has recognised a gain of £60,000. In respect of the leasehold investment property, 
the Council believes that the 2022 open market valuation is not materially different 
from the value included in the financial statements.

GROUP
2022
Total

 £’000

At 1 April 

GROUP
2021
 Total

 £’000

CHARITY
2022
Total

 £’000

12,979 14,854 12,984 14,859

Additions 3,645 1,911 3,645 1,911

12,583 12,979 12,588 12,984

CHARITY
2021
Total

 £’000

Disposals (4,148) (6,238) (4,148) (6,238)

Net gain/(loss) 107 2,452 107 2,452

Investment cash 952 235 952 235

13,535 13,214 13,540 13,219Total investments

Fixed asset investments12.

The charity holds a portfolio of listed investments, revalued to the market value at the 
balance sheet date. The gain or loss on this revaluation is realised once the investment 
is sold. The historical cost of listed investments held by the Group is £9,696,000.

The charity owns 100% of the £1 ordinary share capital of Wood Green Enterprises 
Limited, incorporated in England and Wales. Shares in group undertaking is £5,000. The 
results of the company have been consolidated into these financial statements. See 
Note 21 for a summary of the results of Wood Green Enterprises Limited.

Market value

At 31 March 2022
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Listed securities held at 31 March 2022 comprised the following asset classes:

Value
 2022 

 £’000

UK fixed income

Percentage
2022

 %

Value
2021

 £’000

597 5 2,314 18

UK equity 2,548 20 2,917 22

12,583 100 12,979 100

Non-UK fixed income 1,223 10 635 5

Non-UK equity 6,140 49 6,544 50

Total investments

Percentage
2021

 %

Other investments 2,075 16 569 5

Stock13.

 Group
 2022 

 £’000

Goods for resale

 Group
2021

 £’000

 Charity
2022

 £’000 

43 23 43 23

Surgery stock - 25 - 25

43 48 43 48

Donated animal feed - - - -

 Charity
2021

 £’000 

Debtors: falling due within one year14.

Trade debtors 126 30 125 29

Amounts owed by 
group undertakings - - 525 456

Other debtors - 1 - 1

Prepayments and 
accrued income 1,062 885 879 721

VAT repayable 453 258 453 266

Legacies receivable 243 91 243 91

 Group
 2022 

 £’000

 Group
2021

 £’000

 Charity
2022

 £’000 

 Charity
2021

 £’000 

1,884 1,265 2,225 1,564

80 81Wood Green Animal Shelters Trustee Report and Accounts 2021-2022 Wood Green Animal Shelters Trustee Report and Accounts 2021-2022



Creditors15.

Falling due within one year

 Group
 2022 

 £’000

 Group
2021

 £’000

 Charity
2022

 £’000 

 Charity
2021

 £’000 

Trade creditors 1,091 688 1,086 686

Other creditors 208 1 208 1

Amounts owed to 
group undertakings - - 22 (5)

Accruals and 
deferred income 164 199 157 197

1,463 888 1,473 879

Provisions 169 153 169 153

Falling due within one year

Provisions reconciliation
 Group
 £’000

Charity 
£’000

As at 1 April 2020 155 155

Additions 7 7

Released to income (9) (9)

169 169At 31 March 2022

As at 1 April 2021 153 153

Additions 16 16

Released to income - -

The provisions relate to dilapidations across 19 charity shops. 

CURRENT YEAR

Brought 
forward
 £’000

Income
£’000

Expenditure
 £’000

Transfers
 £’000

Gains/ 
losses

£’000

 Carried 
Forward
 £’000

Restricted 
funds

Ms Snowden

P Larratt

Surgical 
Equipment

Other

Total restricted 
funds

Designated
funds

Strategic 
Projects

Infrastructure 
Reserve

Tangible/
intangible fixed 
asset fund

Total 
designated 
funds

TOTAL 
FUNDS

Statement of funds16.

Revaluation 
reserve

Free reserves

Total  
general funds

General funds

748

75

18

9

850

4

-

-

7

11

-

-

-

(6) 

(6)

(752)

-

-

1

(751)

-

-

-

-

-

-

75

18

11

104

80

1,000

5,473

6,553

-

-

-

-

(80)

-

(675)

(755)

-

(1,000)

2,806

1,806

-

-

-

-

-

-

7,604

7,604

12,757

16,777

17,057

17,057

(17,368)

(17,368)

(158)

(1,055)

-

167

12,288

15,578

4,020 - - (897) 167 3,290

24,180 17,068 (18,129) - 167 23,286
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Designated
funds

Strategic 
Projects

Infrastructure 
Reserve

Tangible/
intangible fixed 
asset fund

Total 
designated 
funds

Revaluation 
reserve

Free reserves

Total  
general funds

General funds

PRIOR YEAR

Brought 
forward
 £’000

Income
£’000

Expenditure
 £’000

Transfers
 £’000

Gains/ 
losses

£’000

 Carried 
Forward
 £’000

Restricted 
funds

Included within General funds carried forward is £9,732 (2021: £14,361), which relates to 
Wood Green Enterprises Limited, a subsidiary of the Charity. 

1,069 123 (346) 4 - 850

551

1,000

5,732

7,283

-

-

-

-

(320)

-

(642)

(962)

(151)

-

383

232

-

-

-

-

80

1,000

5,473

6,553

14,388

15,853

12,723

12,723

(14,118)

(14,118)

(236)

(236)

-

2,555

12,757

16,777

1,465 - - - 2,555 4,020

TOTAL 
FUNDS

24,205 12,846 (15,426) - 2,555 24,180

Restricted funds
The Ms Snowden fund is a restricted legacy providing funding for the new cattery. 
The cattery was completed in 2022 and all restricted funds utilised. 

The P Larratt fund is a restricted in-memory donation primarily providing funding  
for a cats training and behaviour manager and a community outreach advisor.

The Surgical Equipment restricted income was generated from the Spring 2020 
appeal and the balance will be spent in the next financial year.

The Other restricted funds are restricted funds that individually are immaterial. 

Designated funds
Tangible fixed asset fund
This represents the net book value of the land, buildings, motor vehicles and 
equipment owned and used by the charity to run its operations and administer  
the organisation.

Other designated funds are subject to an annual review to reflect changes in the 
charity’s plans. 

Strategic projects
The charity spent the remaining £80,000 of designated funds within the year on 
various projects.

Infrastructure reserve
This fund was used to fund part of the costs of the new cattery along with the 
legacy from Ms Snowden and a fundraising campaign. The infrastructure reserve 
will be reviewed annually.

Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve represents the revaluation of the investment properties 
and investments held by the charity. Included within the revaluation reserve 
carried forward is £403,000 (2021 - £343,000), which relates to the revaluation 
of investment properties and £2,887,000 (2021 - £3,677,000), which relates to  
the unrealised gain on listed investments.

16.1

16.2

16.3
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Analysis of net assets between funds17.

Unrestricted 
2022 

£’000

Tangible 
assets

Restricted 
2022

£’000

Total funds
2022

£’000

7,604 - 7,604 5,473

Investments 14,158 - 14,158 13,029

23,182 104 23,286 23,330

Unrestricted 
2021 

£’000

-

748

850

Restricted 
2021 

£’000

5,473

13,777

24,180

Total funds 
2021 

£’000

Net current 
assets 1,589 104 1,693 4,981

Provisions (169) - (169) (153)

102

-

5,083

(153)

Net cash flow from operating activities18.
2022

£'000

Depreciation charges

2021
£'000

675 642

Gains on investments (107) (2,452)

(714) (2,146)

Gains on investment properties (60) (103)

Net expenditure for the reporting period 
(as per the Statement of Financial Activities)

Adjustments for

Dividends, interest and rents from investments (303) (399)

(Profit)/loss on sale of fixed assets (2) 1

Decrease/(Increase) in stocks 5 (23)

Increase in debtors (619) (57)

Increase in creditors/provisions 591 270

Net cash used in operating activities

(894) (25)

Pension commitments
The charity operates a defined contribution pension scheme. The assets of the 
scheme are held separately from those of the charity in an administered fund.  
The pension charge represents contributions payable by the charity to the fund. 
Contributions outstanding at 31 March 2022 were £Nil (2021: £Nil), none of which 
were overdue. Total employer contributions paid in the year were £428,000  
(2021: £314,000). 

Operating lease commitments
As at 31 March 2021 the group had total commitments under non-cancellable 
operating leases as follows:

19.

20.

GROUP

Land and 
buildings

 2022 
 £’000

Other
2022

 £’000

 Land and 
buildings

2021
 £’000

Other
2021

 £’000

Not later than one year 428 37 361 41

Later than one year and 
not later than five years 842 11 800 16

Later than five years - - 4 -

CHARITY

428 37 361 41

Later than one year and 
not later than five years 842 11 800 16

Not later than one year

Later than five years - - 4 -

86 87Wood Green Animal Shelters Trustee Report and Accounts 2021-2022 Wood Green Animal Shelters Trustee Report and Accounts 2021-2022



Principal subsidiaries

Company name
Wood Green Enterprises Limited (Company no. 03161812)

The charity owns 5,000 £1 ordinary shares in Wood Green Enterprises Limited, 
King’s Bush Farm, London Road, Godmanchester, Huntingdon, PE29 2NH, which 
is incorporated in England and Wales. The subsidiary operated a coffee shop, 
conference facility and restaurant at King’s Bush Farm, Godmanchester, but  
these activities were discontinued permanently in March 2020.  It continues to 
receive commission on pet insurance and trades in surplus electricity produced  
at the Godmanchester site. This is the charity’s only subsidiary. 

Wood Green Enterprises Limited gifts its taxable profits to Wood Green Animal 
Shelters at the discretion of the Directors. A summary of the company's trading 
results is shown below. Audited accounts have been filed with the Registrar  
of Companies.

Included within the group unrestricted reserves carried forward are £9,732  
(2021: £14,361), which relate to Wood Green Enterprises Limited.

21. Percentage 
shareholding

100

2022
£'000

Turnover

2021
£'000

674 

Profit and loss account

Cost of sales

Profit for the year

Gross profit

Trading and administrative expenses

Other interest receivable and similar incomeexpenses

(16)

658

(133)

-

525

608 

(1)

607

(159)

-

448

Net assets

Fixed assets

Current assets

Liabilities

-

552

(537)

15

-

483

(469)

14

Balance sheet

Share capital

Net assets

Profit and loss account

Profit for the year

Distributions (Gift Aid donation)

5

10

525

(525)

15

5

13

448

(452)

14

Amount for financial year
£’000

Payroll -

Rent for premises 63

Management recharge 22

Security services 4

Fuel 2

The transactions between the charity and the trading subsidiary are summarised below:

Nature of supply

The charity as supplier

Printing services 1

The subsidiary made payments in the year totalling £452,000 to reduce the 
intercompany balances. 

No loans are advanced by the charity to its subsidiary.

Related party transactions 
Details of Trustee expenses can be seen in Note 8.  Details of transactions with  
the Trading Subsidiary can be seen in Note 21. 

22.
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Unrestricted 
funds

£’000
Income

Other trading 
activities

Investment 
income

Total income

Donations  
and legacies

Charitable 
activities

Restricted 
funds

£’000

2021 
Total funds

 £’000

2020
Total funds

 £’000

9,577

161

2,586

399

12,723

123

-

-

-

123

9,700

161

2,586

399

12,846

10,794

301

2,768

629

15,023

Expenditure

Investment 
management fees

Donations  
and legacies

Other trading 
activities

(6,068)

(2,308)

(80)

-

-

-

(6,068)

(2,308)

(80)

(5,519)

(2,721)

(90) 

Raising funds

(15,080) (346) (15,426) (15,773) 

(4,763)

(1,861)

-

(322)

(24)

-

(5,085)

(1,885)

-

(5,122)

(2,321)

-

Charitable activities:

Other 
expenditure

Animal rehoming 
and care services

Education and 
awareness

Net Income/
(expenditure) 198 (223) (25) (1,133)

2,452

103

-

-

2,452

103

(383)

-

Net gain/(loss) 
on investments

Net gain on 
investment 
properties

(4) 4 - -Transfers

NET MOVEMENT 
IN FUNDS 194 (219) (25)  (1,133)

Reconciliation 
of funds

23,136 1,069 24,205 25,338Total funds at 1 April

Total expenditure

TOTAL FUNDS  
AT 31 MARCH 23,330 850 24,180  24,205

Statement of Financial Activities – prior year comparatives23.

Other income - - - 531
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